

Temi di Discussione

(Working Papers)

The procyclicality of foreign bank lending: evidence from the global financial crisis

by Ugo Albertazzi and Margherita Bottero







Temi di discussione

(Working papers)

The procyclicality of foreign bank lending: evidence from the global financial crisis

by Ugo Albertazzi and Margherita Bottero

Number 926 - July 2013

The purpose of the Temi di discussione series is to promote the circulation of working papers prepared within the Bank of Italy or presented in Bank seminars by outside economists with the aim of stimulating comments and suggestions.

The views expressed in the articles are those of the authors and do not involve the responsibility of the Bank.

Editorial Board: Massimo Sbracia, Stefano Neri, Luisa Carpinelli, Emanuela Ciapanna, Francesco D'Amuri, Alessandro Notarpietro, Pietro Rizza, Concetta Rondinelli, Tiziano Ropele, Andrea Silvestrini, Giordano Zevi. Editorial Assistants: Roberto Marano, Nicoletta Olivanti.

ISSN 1594-7939 (print) ISSN 2281-3950 (online)

Printed by the Printing and Publishing Division of the Bank of Italy

THE PROCYCLICALITY OF FOREIGN BANK LENDING: **EVIDENCE FROM THE GLOBAL FINANCIAL CRISIS**

by Ugo Albertazzi* and Margherita Bottero**

Abstract

We exploit highly disaggregated bank-firm data to investigate the dynamics of foreign vs. domestic credit supply in Italy around the period of the Lehman collapse, which brought a sudden and unexpected deterioration of economic conditions and a sharp increase in credit risk. Taking advantage of the presence of multiple lending relationships to control for credit demand and risk at the individual-firm level, we show that foreign lenders restricted credit supply (to the same firm) more sharply than their domestic counterparts. Based on a number of exercises testing alternative explanations for such procyclicality, we find that it mainly reflects the (functional) distance between a foreign bank's headquarters and the Italian credit market.

JEL Classification: E44, G15, G14, G21.

Keywords: foreign banks, credit crunch, bank balance sheet channel, functional distance.

0

| Contents |
|----------|
|----------|

| 2. Review of the literature 7 3. Lehman's bankruptcy, foreign banks and the Italian credit market. 8 4. Empirical strategy 10 5. Definition of variables and description of data 11 6. Results 14 6.1 The procyclicality of foreign intermediaries 14 6.1.2 The procyclicality of the extensive margin of credit supply 15 6.2 The determinants of the foreign lenders' procyclicality 17 6.2.1 The organizational form hypothesiet 17 6.2.2 The international shock propagation hypothesis 18 6.2.3 The functional distance hypothesis 22 6.3 The efficiency of foreign lending 26 6.4 The substitutability of foreign credit 27 7. Conclusions 29 Appendix 31 References 37 | 1. Introduction | 5 |
|---|---|----|
| 3. Lehman's bankruptcy, foreign banks and the Italian credit market. 8 4. Empirical strategy. 10 5. Definition of variables and description of data 11 6. Results. 14 6.1 The procyclicality of foreign intermediaries 14 6.1.2 The procyclicality of the extensive margin of credit supply 15 6.2 The determinants of the foreign lenders' procyclicality 17 6.2.1 The organizational form hypothesiet 17 6.2.2 The international shock propagation hypothesis 18 6.2.3 The functional distance hypothesis 22 6.3 The efficiency of foreign lending 26 6.4 The substitutability of foreign credit 27 7. Conclusions 29 Appendix 31 References 37 | 2. Review of the literature | 7 |
| 4. Empirical strategy 10 5. Definition of variables and description of data 11 6. Results 14 6.1 The procyclicality of foreign intermediaries 14 6.1.2 The procyclicality of the extensive margin of credit supply 15 6.2 The determinants of the foreign lenders' procyclicality 17 6.2.1 The organizational form hypothesiet 17 6.2.2 The international shock propagation hypothesis 18 6.2.3 The functional distance hypothesis 22 6.3 The efficiency of foreign lending 26 6.4 The substitutability of foreign credit 27 7. Conclusions 29 Appendix 31 References 37 | 3. Lehman's bankruptcy, foreign banks and the Italian credit market | |
| 5. Definition of variables and description of data 11 6. Results 14 6.1 The procyclicality of foreign intermediaries 14 6.1.2 The procyclicality of the extensive margin of credit supply 15 6.2 The determinants of the foreign lenders' procyclicality 17 6.2.1 The organizational form hypothesiet 17 6.2.2 The international shock propagation hypothesis 18 6.2.3 The functional distance hypothesis 22 6.3 The efficiency of foreign lending 26 6.4 The substitutability of foreign credit 27 7. Conclusions 29 Appendix 31 References 37 | 4. Empirical strategy | |
| 6. Results 14 6.1 The procyclicality of foreign intermediaries 14 6.1.2 The procyclicality of the extensive margin of credit supply 15 6.2 The determinants of the foreign lenders' procyclicality 17 6.2.1 The organizational form hypothesiet 17 6.2.2 The international shock propagation hypothesis 18 6.2.3 The functional distance hypothesis 22 6.3 The efficiency of foreign lending 26 6.4 The substitutability of foreign credit 27 7. Conclusions 29 Appendix 31 References 37 | 5. Definition of variables and description of data | 11 |
| 6.1 The procyclicality of foreign intermediaries146.1.2 The procyclicality of the extensive margin of credit supply156.2 The determinants of the foreign lenders' procyclicality176.2.1 The organizational form hypothesiet176.2.2 The international shock propagation hypothesis186.2.3 The functional distance hypothesis226.3 The efficiency of foreign lending266.4 The substitutability of foreign credit277. Conclusions29Appendix31References37 | 6. Results | |
| 6.1.2 The procyclicality of the extensive margin of credit supply156.2 The determinants of the foreign lenders' procyclicality176.2.1 The organizational form hypothesiet176.2.2 The international shock propagation hypothesis186.2.3 The functional distance hypothesis226.3 The efficiency of foreign lending266.4 The substitutability of foreign credit277. Conclusions29Appendix31References37 | 6.1 The procyclicality of foreign intermediaries | 14 |
| 6.2 The determinants of the foreign lenders' procyclicality 17 6.2.1 The organizational form hypothesiet 17 6.2.2 The international shock propagation hypothesis 18 6.2.3 The functional distance hypothesis 22 6.3 The efficiency of foreign lending 26 6.4 The substitutability of foreign credit 27 7. Conclusions 29 Appendix 31 References 37 | 6.1.2 The procyclicality of the extensive margin of credit supply | 15 |
| 6.2.1 The organizational form hypothesiet176.2.2 The international shock propagation hypothesis186.2.3 The functional distance hypothesis226.3 The efficiency of foreign lending266.4 The substitutability of foreign credit277. Conclusions29Appendix31References37 | 6.2 The determinants of the foreign lenders' procyclicality | 17 |
| 6.2.2 The international shock propagation hypothesis186.2.3 The functional distance hypothesis226.3 The efficiency of foreign lending266.4 The substitutability of foreign credit277. Conclusions29Appendix31References37 | 6.2.1 The organizational form hypothesiet | 17 |
| 6.2.3 The functional distance hypothesis.226.3 The efficiency of foreign lending266.4 The substitutability of foreign credit277. Conclusions29Appendix31References37 | 6.2.2 The international shock propagation hypothesis | |
| 6.3 The efficiency of foreign lending266.4 The substitutability of foreign credit277. Conclusions29Appendix31References37 | 6.2.3 The functional distance hypothesis | |
| 6.4 The substitutability of foreign credit277. Conclusions29Appendix31References37 | 6.3 The efficiency of foreign lending | |
| 7. Conclusions 29 Appendix 31 References 37 | 6.4 The substitutability of foreign credit | |
| Appendix | 7. Conclusions | |
| References | Appendix | |
| | References | |

^{*} Bank of Italy, Economic Research and International Relations, Economic Outlook and Monetary Policy Department. Email, Ugo.Albertazzi@bancaditalia.it.

^{**}Bank of Italy, Economic Research and International Relations, Economic Outlook and Monetary Policy Department. Email, Margherita.Bottero@bancaditalia.it.

1 Introduction¹

Opening national markets to foreign penetration is known to deliver higher efficiency gains than autarky, as the resulting increase in competition among financial intermediaries leads to better and less expensive access to credit, greater financial depth and steadier growth (see Levine 2005 and references therein). The events following the 2007/2009 global financial crisis, however, challenged this broad consensus and the general view came to regard multinational banks as the main cross-border propagators of financial distress. In particular, it was argued that foreign intermediaries' unexpected retrenching away from the host markets contributed in a non-negligible way to heighten the procyclicality of financial markets in the host countries.²

Indeed, according to a few recent empirical works, multinational banks that received large liquidity and funding shocks during the global crisis operated a credit restriction in the host countries that was tighter than that by domestic banks, typically less directly affected by the crisis (Cetorelli and Goldberg 2011, 2012; De Haas and Lelyveld 2011; Puri and Rocholl, 2011; Popov and Udell 2012). With the present paper we investigate this issue by analyzing credit supply of both domestic and foreign lenders operating in Italy in the aftermath of the collapse of Lehman Brothers.³ In doing so, we contribute to the existing literature along the following dimensions.

First, thanks to our detailed dataset on bank-firm credit relationships, we can apply a robust methodology to isolate the procyclicality of foreign lending (i.e. the restriction in credit supply operated by foreign banks on top of that also operated by their domestic counterparts) from that part of lending dynamics that reflects credit demand and borrowers' risk. This methodology, first employed by Gan (2007) and Kwhaja and Mian (2008) in a context not related to the issue of multinational banks, crucially exploits the fact that firms borrow simultaneously from several banks. Here we take advantage of the fact that among the banks from which firms borrow there may be both foreign and domestic intermediaries.

Secondly, and perhaps most importantly, while we also consider the possibility that foreign banks' larger credit restriction results from the transmission of financial distress from the headquarters to local affiliates, we also explore other channels. In particular, given that Lehman's collapse induced an unexpected and sharp downturn of the Italian economy, we study if the related quick deterioration of the credit quality prompted different reactions from part of the two types of lenders. We advance three hypotheses: (i)the organizational form and business model of foreign intermediaries, arguably different from that of the average domestic bank, may be connected with a different sensitivity

¹We are grateful to Ginette Eramo for her assistance with the data. We thank Nicola Cetorelli, Paolo Del Giovane, Stefano Neri, Raffaele Passaro, Iman van Lelyveld and partecipants to the Bank of Italy Lunch seminar series, the conference on Intra-European Imbalances, Global Imbalances, International Banking, and International Financial Stability, Berlin (Germany); the EBA Workshop on Banks' business models after the crisis: incentives, strategies, de-risking, London (UK); Bank for International Settlements's seminar series (Basilea) and University of Sassari's seminar series (Italy) for helpful comments.

²Symmetrically, Borio et al. (2011) have also pointed out how, during boom periods, cross-border sources of credit tend to outgrow overall credit. For a broader discussion on financial markets procyclicality, see Panetta et al. (2009).

³For a comprehensive study on the retail activity of foreign banks in Italy see Infante and Rossi (2009).

of lending supply to credit quality shocks; (ii) as mentioned, foreign banks' larger credit tightening may have resulted from the transmission of unexpected shocks to the consolidated balance sheet of foreign banks, or to the economy where these intermediaries are based (*international propagation of shocks*⁴); (*iii*) finally, we conjecture that foreign intermediaries' behavior could have reflected their ampler (functional) distance from the Italian market, which is a factor influencing the ability of an intermediary to manage credit risk (Stein 2002; Ruckes 2004; Hauswald and Marquez, 2006; Alessandrini et al. 2009; De Haas and Van Horen 2013).

We investigate these hypotheses by exploiting a dataset consisting of all credit relations entertained by Italian firms with both foreign and domestic banks before and after the collapse of Lehman Brothers. We opt for focusing on the pre- and post-Lehman periods as the outburst of the global financial crisis, which was fully unexpected and certainly exogenous to the development in credit supply in Italy -either from domestic or from foreign lenders-, provides a quasi-experimental framework.

Our findings confirm that the post-Lehman contraction of the credit extended by foreign banks, sharper than that of their domestic competitors, reflects less favorable supply dynamics and does not (just) result from a stronger weakening of the demand side. This is true both when we look at the total amount of credit granted and at the openings of new credit lines (i.e. the intensive and extensive margins). The harsher contraction of lending supply operated by foreign banks is rather widespread across borrowers, although it did not concern very large borrowers as well as very high-quality firms.

Concerning the determinants of such procyclicality, our findings suggest that the hypotheses related to the organizational form and the international propagation of shocks do not fully explain the observed procyclicality displayed by foreign banks. Instead, we find that the restriction reflects the functional distance between the headquarters and Italy. We show that the credit restriction has been predominantly operated by lenders with a higher ratio of loans extended in Italy to deposits also raised locally (the local funding gap), banks which can be thought of as less deeply involved with the local economy. In a similar vein, we also demonstrate that the procyclicality is almost entirely induced by branches of foreign banks rather than by foreign subsidiaries. To corroborate the interpretation of these findings in terms of distance, we also show that foreign lenders' procyclicality was stronger for credit relationships in which the (foreign) bank is not the main lender of the borrowing firm.

We show that distance also influences the relationship between the financial condition of an intermediary's country of origin and lending supply in Italy. More precisely we document that among banks headquartered in distant countries the lending restriction operated in Italy was more intense for those intermediaries based in economies less hit by the crisis, while the opposite is true for closer economies. We argue that this evidence provides interesting normative indications, as it suggests that the cross-border flows of credit among functionally close countries are coherent with some notion of risk sharing.

Finally, we find that Italian firms were able to compensate only partially the contraction of lending supply by foreign banks, through a greater recourse to credit from domestic intermediaries.

The remaining of the paper is organized as follows. Section 2 reviews the relevant

⁴The literature has also referred to this channel as the international bank-lending channel.

literature. Section 3 discusses the impact of the Lehman's bankruptcy on the Italian credit market, the aggregate response of foreign banks and its possible determinants. Section 4 explains our empirical methodology in detail. Section 5 presents the dataset, which was constructed specifically for this work. Section 6 illustrates the empirical results. Section 7 concludes.

2 Review of the literature

Our work nests in the literature that studies the lending behavior of foreign banks in periods of financial turmoil, following up the seminal contribution of Peek and Rosengren (1997), who document how the unexpected decline in Japanese stock values between 1989 and 1992 provoked a sizeable, direct restriction in the lending supply of Japanese banks' branches operating in the US.

In the aftermath of the Lehman collapse, a number of papers resumed this line of research with a more specific focus on the global financial crisis. These works provide evidence that capital flows from foreign intermediaries to their affiliates (intra-group lending) and from foreign affiliates to borrowers in the host market came to a sudden halt during that period. For instance, Cetorelli and Goldberg (2011) study the behavior of foreign affiliates operating in European, Asian and Latin American emerging markets, and find sizeable effects both for what concerns intra-group lending and lending to local borrowers. Similarly, the authors show that the Lehman event prompted also foreign intermediaries operating in the US to implement large intra-group withdrawals of liquidity from their affiliates operating in the United States, which translated in a restriction of local lending from these banks (Cetorelli and Goldberg 2012). These findings are in line with what is documented by Claessens and Van Horen (2012), who analyze the behavior of a rather large sample of foreign banks and show that during the global crisis these intermediaries have contracted their credit supply more than domestic intermediaries. Evidence supporting foreign banks' quick asset transfers away from host markets is also provided by Allen et al. (2011), De Haas and Van Lelyveld (2011), Puri et al. (2011), Ongena et al. (2013). Popov and Udell (2012) demonstrate that after the crisis foreign banks increased their rejection rates of loan-applications.

Part of the literature has focused on investigating more in depth which bank balancesheet items are mainly related with the documented credit flows' restrictions. Allen et al. (2011a) find that higher loan loss provisioning as well as higher dependence on the interbank market at the headquarters' level increase the likelihood of credit tightening at the affiliate level. Claessens and Van Horen (2012) find that foreign banks have continued lending in those host markets where they relied most on host-country deposit funding, and especially when their share of the market was predominant. De Haas and Van Horen (2013) use data on syndicated loans and show that foreign banks operated less of a restriction in lending to countries geographically closer, and in countries where the bank had a well-established experience with co-lenders and borrowers, suggesting that factors related to the functional distance between the headquarters and the host country have affected the dynamics of lending.

Compared with these works, our paper improves on the methodology employed to control for the effects on lending dynamics of credit demand and borrowers' risk, by including time-varying borrower fixed effects, which capture all observable and unobservable, timevarying and time-invariant demand effects. From this methodological perspective, the work closest to ours is Schnabl (2012), who also exploits multiple lending relations to control for credit demand and risk. Schnabl, however, estimates the impact of the Russian 1998 crisis on credit supply in Peru, and his main objective is to isolate the existence and the extent of the bank balance sheet channel, which in his case happened to be stronger for foreign affiliates (while their parent banks were hit by the Russian crisis, domestic Peruvian banks were relatively unaffected by it). Besides the crisis period and the credit market analyzed, our study differs form Schnabl's as we try to investigate if lending policies of foreign banks have exhibited procyclical patterns beyond what can be explained by the balance-sheet channel hypothesis.⁵ In doing so, we emphasize the role of foreign banks' business model and their distance from the Italian credit market.

3 Lehman's bankruptcy, foreign banks and the Italian credit market

In Italy, the bankruptcy of Lehman Brothers has marked the beginning of a severe and unexpected recession period, which brought about a sizeable deterioration in lending risk, as can be seen by looking at Figure 1, which shows how the ratio of new bad debts to outstanding loans to firms almost tripled in the year following the bankruptcy.⁶



Figure 1. Ratio of new bad debts to outstanding loans

Note: quarterly flow of adjusted bad debts in relation to the stock of loans at the end of the previous quarter; annual data up to the fourth quarter of 1995. Seasonally adjusted where necessary and annualized. Source Financial Stability Review, Bank of Italy, April-2012.

⁵The same considerations apply to Bofondi, Carpinelli and Sette (2013), who conduct a similar exercise with Italian data and study lending supply during the sovereign debt crisis period, showing how foreign lenders, less involved in the financial market tensions, have been better able than domestic intermediaries in sustaining credit supply. Similarly, De Haas and Van Horen (2013) use firm fixed effects to control for demand dynamics when estimating how closedness between an intermediary and the borrower mediated the effect of the Lehman crisis on the supply of syndicated loans.

⁶For a more detailed analysis of the way the global financial crisis reverberated on the Italian economy, see Caivano et al. (2009).

Many other loan quality indicators abruptly decreased over the turn of the year, and did not show significant improvements over the two subsequent years (see Financial Stability Reports, Bank of Italy, n. 1 and 2).

Foreign banks have responded to this deterioration in credit quality with a much stronger contraction in lending than domestic banks (Figure 2). Comparing credit growth over the period 2007Q4-2008Q4 to that over the two subsequent years, the overall growth rate of lending dropped from 11 per cent to -0.5 per cent and that of lending granted by domestic banks from 9.7 per cent to 0.4 per cent; the growth of credit extended by foreign intermediaries, instead, collapsed from 19.7 per cent in the pre-Lehman window to a staggering -4.0 per cent.⁷

This evidence suggest that in the aftermath of the crisis foreign intermediaries have behaved more procyclically than their domestic counterparts also in Italy; however, aggregate time series such as those displayed by Figure 2 do not take into account that firms borrowing from foreign banks may be systematically different from the others (for example, they could be more export oriented). As long as firms borrowing from foreign lenders are different from other firms, the larger restriction displayed in Figure 2 could simply reflect different credit demand conditions. Therefore, it is not possible to draw conclusions about the procyclicality of foreign intermediaries' lending policies based on this Figure alone.



Figure 2. Lending to firms in Italy: by type of lender

Notes: monthly data; annualized growth rate, corrected for cartolarizations. Source: Supervisory Statistical Reports and Central Credit Register.

Admitting that part of the restriction was in fact driven by supply dynamics, as we will rigorously demonstrate later on, several reasons could explain why foreign banks' supply

⁷The sample period has been chosen so as to include the peak of credit growth prior to Lehman's collapse and the trough after that. The results are however virtually unaffected by marginal changes in the sample period considered.

of credit has evolved differently from that of domestic lenders. We advance and test three main hypotheses. The first relates to a bank's organizational form and business model. Foreign banks are typically multinational banks that are much larger, in all respects, than domestic institutions; accordingly, they are also likely to adopt a different business model in terms of funding and risk taking.

Secondly, we examine the extent to which the credit restriction operated by foreign intermediaries reflects their higher exposure to the negative shocks brought about the crisis, as suggested by the literature that studies the international bank balance-sheet channel.

Finally, we argue that foreign lenders, because of their distance from the Italian credit market, can less easily manage deteriorations in credit quality. If this is the case, the sizeable reduction in foreign banks' credit exposures towards Italy may have reflected the significant increase in credit risk that accompanied the Lehman collapse.

4 Empirical strategy

We compare lending decisions of foreign and domestic banks before and after the crisis (as in Ongena et al. 2013), including borrower/quarter fixed effects to isolate supply from contemporaneous demand dynamics (as in Schnabl 2012). Precisely, we estimate

$$\Delta \ln(L_{bft}) = a_{0t} + a_1 foreign_b + a_2 lehman_t + a_3 foreign * lehman_{bt} + b_{ft} + u_{bft}$$
(1)

where $\Delta \ln(L_{bft})$ is the quarterly change of the natural logarithm of credit extended by bank b to firm f in quarter t; foreign_b is a dummy indicating whether bank b is a branch of a foreign bank; lehman_t is a dummy that takes value 1 if the period t is after the collapse of Lehman Brothers; foreign*lehman_{bt} is the interaction term between the two dummies above; b_{ft} represents the firm-quarter fixed-effect and u_{bft} is an idiosyncratic error term.⁸

The fixed effects, which we can introduce thanks to the presence of multiple lending relationships in our dataset, allow us to control for *all* firm's time-invariant and time-varying characteristics, irrespective of their being observable or unobservable. As emphasized by Gan (2007) and by Khwaja and Mian (2008), the presence of such fixed effects is crucial to control for credit demand and risk. By failing to include them, in fact, the estimated foreign banks' procyclicality, as captured by the coefficient a_3 , could simply reflect a different credit demand pattern between the firms borrowing from foreign versus domestic lenders.

For what concerns the interpretation of the coefficients, a_1 captures the factors that explain the difference in lending behavior between foreign and domestic banks before the crisis takes place, while a_2 accounts for the time trend of credit supply that is common to both foreign and domestic banks.⁹ The coefficient on *foreign*lehman_{bt}*, if negative, indicates that foreign banks have restricted credit supply more than domestic banks, thus behaving procyclically.

 $^{^{8}}$ We consider as foreign banks only the branches of foreign banks; in section 6.2.3 we explore the role played by affiliates of foreign banking groups.

⁹Although included here for expositional clarity, the coefficient a_2 will no be estimated in the presence of firm/quarter fixed effects.

Next we simply add to model (1) a number of covariates Z_{bt} that proxy the hypotheses that we think could have prompted foreign banks' larger credit cuts. In practice, we estimate

$$\Delta L_{bft} = a_{0t} + a_1 foreign_b + a_2 lehman_t + a_3 foreign * lehman_{bt} + b_{ft} + a_4 Z_{bt} + u_{bft} \quad (2)$$

If the hypothesis under study explains the different behavior of foreign lenders, then inclusion of Z_{bt} should render the coefficient a_3 insignificant.

Finally, we will also analyze differences across banks and firms in the intensity of foreign lender's procyclicality by estimating specifications in which we also include the triple interaction of Z_{bt} *foreign*lehman_{bt} (together with all relevant double interactions).

$$\Delta L_{bft} = a_{0t} + a_1 foreign_b + a_2 lehman_t + a_3 foreign * lehman_{bt}$$

$$+ a_4 Z_{bt} + a_5 Z_{bt} * foreign_b + a_6 Z_{bt} * lehman_t + a_7 Z_{bt} * foreign * lehman_{bt}$$

$$+ b_{ft} + u_{bft}$$

$$(3)$$

It is worth pointing out that, despite the similarity, our exercise does not correspond to a difference-in-difference (DD) estimation as we are not assuming that the shock necessarily hit only one (treated) group of banks. Although we will check to what extent the observed differences in behavior can be ascribed to different direct exposures to the Lehman shock, our objective is also to assess the extent to which the unexpected deterioration of credit quality in Italy observed after the Lehman's collapse prompted different reactions from part of foreign and domestic banks.

5 Definition of variables and description of data

Our dataset takes advantage of the information contained in the Italian Credit Register, which monitors all existing credit relations above the threshold of 30.000 euros, by requiring all banks operating in Italy to report the identity of the borrowers they are engaged with, along with the amount of credit granted to them and its features. More precisely, we started off by compiling the list of all those borrowers that have been reported by a foreign bank to the Register at least once in the period examined (2007Q4-2010Q4; endof-quarter exposures are considered). For these borrowers we then derived information on all other credit relations (with both domestic and foreign banks) that they entertained during the same period.

We have information on the amount of credit granted and utilized; whether the credit granted was short- or long-term (i.e. a loan is short-term if its original maturity is less than eighteen months, long-term otherwise); whether it was collateralized or not and finally if it turned out to be a deteriorated or bad loan. For computational reasons, we carry out our regressions with a random sample including fifteen per cent of the original list of borrowers, which left us with a dataset of thirty-eight thousands borrowers and over six hundred intermediaries, of which a bit more than ten per cent are branches of foreign banks, for about a million quarterly observations. We derive information on the balance sheet of borrowers and of domestic and foreign banks from Cerved and from the Bank of Italy Supervisory statistical report and Bankscope respectively.¹⁰

Our main dependent variable, credit growth, is the delta of the log exposure of a bank toward a borrower between quarter t and t + 1, that is $\Delta \ln(L) = \ln(credit \ granted_t)$ $-\ln(credit \ granted_{t-1})$. Given that the growth rate variable cannot by construction be computed in the quarter where a loan is originated, for robustness reasons we also consider the delta in levels of credit granted (see also Albertazzi and Marchetti 2010). Table 1 presents some summary statistics.

| | | | 5 | | | |
|-----------------|---------|-----------|----------|-------|-----------|--------|
| | | Domestic | | | Foreign | |
| Variable | Obs. | Mean | Median | Obs. | Mean | Median |
| credit granted | 1080831 | 1.258.844 | 1.751.91 | 89150 | 2.419.356 | 73.334 |
| credit utilized | 1080831 | 851.974 | 125.959 | 89150 | 1.581.307 | 48.962 |
| short-term | 1080831 | 52.6% | 64.1% | 89150 | 29.9% | 0% |
| collateralized | 1080831 | 12.9% | 0% | 89150 | 17.4% | 0% |
| deteriorated | 1080831 | 22.0% | 0% | 89150 | 30.8% | 0% |
| bad | 905067 | 0.03% | 0% | 89150 | 0.01% | 0% |
| | | | | | | |

Table 1. Summary statistics

Note: summary statistics for all bank-firm-quarter matches included in the dataset. Foreign is branches of foreign intermediaries; Domestic is domestic banks and subsidiaries of foreign banks; credit granted is the total amount granted in euro; credit utilized is amount drawn in euro; short – term is the percentage of credit granted that is short-term; ditto for collateralized, deteriorated (substandard, restructured and past-due loans which are not reported as bad loans) and bad loans (exposures to borrowers in a state of insolvency, even if not legally ascertained and regardless of the losses forecasted by the bank).

Over the period under study, foreign banks have granted on average less short-term and more collateralized credit; further foreign banks have reported on average more deteriorated credit than their Italian counterparts.

Moving to banks' balance sheets, in the analysis we consider the following balance sheet indicators: total assets; total capital ratio; liquidity ratio, i.e. the ratio of securities other than shares to the sum of securities other than shares and loans; funding gap, i.e. the ratio of loans to total deposits; bad loan ratio, i.e. the ratio of bad loans to total loans; ROA, i.e. the ratio of net income to total assets.¹¹ Importantly, we consider consolidated balance sheets at the group level, which is why we have to make use of Bankscope to get the data on foreign banks' balance sheets.

Table 2 presents the summary statistics for these variables over the period considered.

¹⁰Cerved is a private company providing a database for a large sample of Italian firms (more than 1,000,000) which contains detailed information about firms' activity and balance sheets, reported on a yearly basis. It also produces a synthetic indicator capturing a firm's overall credit worthiness, the Zscore. More precisely, following Altman et al. (1994), each firm is assigned a value from 1 to 9 where values from 7 upwards indicate sensible riskiness. Our dummy *rating* takes value 1 for firms with Zscore higher than or equal to 7.

¹¹In computing the liquidity ratio, we do not consider cash because this information is missing for banks in Bankscope.

Note that for the subsidiaries of foreign banks, which we classify as domestic banks, we consider the consolidated balance sheet for the sole Italian component of the bank group.

Overall, the main difference between the two categories of banks concerns their size, which is significantly larger for foreign intermediaries, as one would expect given the fact that these are by definition international banking groups. Foreign banks are more liquid than domestic banks. The quality of the loan portfolio is somewhat worse for domestic lenders, that are nonetheless more profitable as indicated by the higher ROA.¹² When only large domestic intermediaries are considered differences are significantly more muted (Table A1 in the Appendix).

| | Domestic | | | Foreign | | |
|---------------------|----------|------|--------|---------|------|--------|
| Variable | Obs. | Mean | Median | Obs. | Mean | Median |
| total assets | 7953 | 4.5 | .44 | 468 | 673 | 581 |
| total capital ratio | 7852 | 17.4 | 13.8 | 442 | 13.0 | 12.4 |
| liquidity ratio | 7636 | 22% | 19% | 446 | 35% | 32% |
| funding gap ratio | 7867 | 427% | 139% | 445 | 629% | 138% |
| bad loan ratio | 7584 | 4.2% | 2.8% | 365 | 3.3% | 1.7% |
| ROA | 7838 | .35% | .39% | 2220 | .10% | 31% |

Table 2. Summary statistics

Note: summary statistics for all bank-quarter matches included in the dataset. total assets are in billion euro; total capital ratio is the ratio of regulatory capital to risk weighted assets; liquidity ratio is the ratio of securities other than shares to the sum of securities other than shares and loans; funding gap is the ratio of loans to total deposits ratio; bad loan ratio is the ratio of bad loans to total loans; ROA is the ratio of net income to total assets. Balance-sheet data are consolidated.

Regarding the borrowers, we focus on two main indicators of their creditworthiness and opaqueness, namely total assets and the rating. The relevant summary statistics are presented in the Appendix (Table A2). As Cerved does not survey the universe of borrowers, we are not always able to match a borrower with its balance sheet data. This has no implications for us as first, Cerved is a large dataset which includes data on small firms as well (though these may be under-represented); second, in the baseline regressions we will not use such information; third, as explained in the empirical methodology section, our results do not suffer from possible selection biases since the time-varying firm fixed effects control for all (observable and unobservable) characteristics of the firm. Finally, the firms included in the sample (which by construction are those borrowing at least once from at least one foreign lender) do not exhibit specific characteristics, compared to the whole Cerved population (see Table A2).

¹²This comparison is however likely to be significantly distorted by the leverage ratios of Italian banks, structurally much lower than that of other banking sectors.

6 Results

6.1 The procyclicality of foreign intermediaries

We start off with presenting in table 3 the estimation of the baseline model (equation 1), which tests for the procyclicality of foreign intermediaries' credit supply in response to the Lehman shock.

When credit risk is controlled for with inclusion of the fixed-effects, the *foreign*lehman* coefficient indicates that foreign banks have, on average, restricted their credit supply by 1.5 percentage points on a quarterly basis more than what domestic banks did.¹³

| | (1) | (2) | (3) |
|----------------|--|--|--|
| Dep. variable | $\Delta \ln L$ | $\Delta \ln L$ | $\Delta \ln L$ |
| foreign | 0.001 | 0.001 | 0.001 |
| | (0.005) | (0.003) | (0.004) |
| foreign*lehman | -0.015*** | -0.015*** | -0.015** |
| | (0.005) | (0.004) | (0.006) |
| Constant | -0.012*** | -0.012*** | -0.012*** |
| | (0.000) | (0.000) | (0.002) |
| obs. | 1071645 | 1071645 | 1071645 |
| \mathbf{R}^2 | | | 0.260 |
| prob>F | 0.002 | 0.000 | |
| fixed effects | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quarter}$ | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quarter}$ | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quarter}$ |
| cluster by | firm/quarter | firm | bank |

Table 3. The procyclicality of foreign lending

Note: these regressions examine the procyclicality of foreign lenders. Robust standard errors in parentheses. *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. The dependent variable is the delta log exposure of a bank toward a borrower between quarter t and t - 1; foreign is a dummy variable taking value 1 if the observation pertains to a branch of a foreign intermediary; lehman is a dummy variable taking value 1 if the observation pertains to the period 2008Q4-2010Q4. Sample period is 2007Q4 - 2010Q4. Estimation technique is: panel regression with firm/quarter fixed effects clustered at the firm/quarter level in (1); panel regression with firm/quarter fixed effects clustered at the firm level in (2); panel regression with firm/quarter fixed effects clustered at the bank level in (3).

¹³Note how here and elsewhere where the fixed effects are taken at the firm/quarter level, the dummy Lehman is omitted because of collinearity. Note also, here and in the following tables, that when the errors are clustered the firm/quarter level, the estimation procedure delivers an R squared computed without the contribution of the fixed effects, which explains the poor fit of the model. For this reason, we show the results of the F-test instead, which are more appropriate to evaluate the empirical model.

In the benchmark, we clusters errors at firm/quarter level, allowing errors to be correlated across *different* observations for the *same* firm/quarter (i.e. observations referring to credit granted to the same firm by different banks). However, errors may be correlated among the observations for the same firm at different dates, in which case it is appropriate to cluster by firm (column 2) or among the observations for the same bank at different dates (independently of the firm receiving the credit), in which case it is appropriate to cluster by bank (column 3). The results confirm that clustering does not affect our main result.¹⁴

We have further checked whether the larger cut in credit operated by foreign banks has to do with the fact that these intermediaries tend to grant more short-term than long-term credit. If this was the case, the *foreign*lehman* coefficient could simply reflect the fact that short-term exposition can by definition be cut down more rapidly; then, the documented larger cut would be primarily driven by an abnormally slow tightening from part of the domestic banks (because they are relatively more exposed in long-term credit). To control for this, we have estimated the baseline regression including, as a control variable, the share of long-term credit granted, defined at the bank-firm level (and measured at the end of the preceding quarter). The findings indicate that the coefficient on *foreign*lehman* remains negative and significant (it actually increases in magnitude to 0.23^{***}).

Finally, we have investigated whether the restriction was target to specific categories of borrowers. Overall, we could detect a lower contraction only for the top segments for the population of firms, both in terms of size and of risk. In particular, when we estimate model (3) by also including two further interactions of *foreign*lehman* with the dummy *small firm*, which takes value 1 if the borrowing firm's assets fall below the 95th percentile of the distribution, and with the dummy *top rating*, which takes value 1 if the borrowing firm is rated with one of the top three Cerved ratings, we can see that the restriction in lending supply by foreign lenders did not concern very large firms and those with a very good rating (table A4, column 1).

6.1.1 The procyclicality of the extensive margin of credit supply

In this section we focus on the extensive margin of credit supply, namely the opening of new credit lines; the credit growth variable that we have considered in the baseline model captures only the intensive margin of credit supply, meaning the dynamics of the volumes of (existing) credit lines.

To study the extensive margin, we estimate a linear probability model, with the usual firm/quarter fixed effects, for a variable which is meant to capture the propensity of a category of banks (domestic and foreign) to extend new loans.

To do so, we define the variable *new loan* as the ratio between the number of new loans a firm has received by banks in a given category in that quarter, and the total number of banks in that category.¹⁵ We compute this variable for *any possible* triple $\langle i, c, t \rangle$, that is,

¹⁴A number of exercises confirm the robustness of the coefficient on *foreign*lehman* to alternative definitions of the dependent variable (Appendix, table A3). More precisely, we have considered the change in levels of credit rather than credit growth (column 1), and the corresponding variable that accounts for the variation induced by the extension and the reimbursement of a credit line (column 2). We also have looked at the dynamics of credit utilized instead of credit granted (column 3).

¹⁵While we could have in principle have done so by defining the dependent variable for each bank in the

for any firm i in the sample, any bank category c, and any quarter t in the sample period covered (2007Q4-2010Q4).

| | e extensive marg | gin |
|----------------|--|--|
| | (1) | (2) |
| Dep. variable | new loan | new loan |
| foreign | -0.087*** | -0.087*** |
| | (0.001) | (0.000) |
| foreign*lehman | -0.028*** | -0.028*** |
| | (0.001) | (0.000) |
| Constant | 0.131*** | 0.131*** |
| | (0.000) | (0.000) |
| obs. | 956332 | 956332 |
| \mathbb{R}^2 | | 0.53 |
| prob > F | .0000 | |
| fixed effects | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quarter}$ | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quarter}$ |
| cluster by | firm/quarter | bank category |

 Table 4. The procyclicality of foreign lending:

 the extensive margin

Note: these regressions examine the procyclicality of foreign lenders on the extensive margin of credit supply. Robust standard errors in parentheses. *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. For any quarter/firm, the dependent variable is the number of new loans by bank category (foreign, domestic) over the number of lenders in that category; foreign is a dummy variable taking value 1 if the observation pertains to a branch of a foreign intermediary; lehman is a dummy variable taking value 1 if the observation pertains to the period 2008Q4-2010Q4. Sample period is 2007Q4 - 2010Q4. Estimation technique is: panel regression with firm/quarter fixed effects clustered at the firm/quarter level in (1); panel regression with firm/quarter fixed effects clustered at the bank-category level in (2).

The results, reported in table 4, show that the procyclicality of branches of foreign lenders is detected even when focussing on the extensive margin of lending supply. The coefficient for the interaction *foreign*lehman* is negative and significant, both when we cluster the errors at the firm/quarter level (column 1) as well as at bank category level (column 2).

sample, such approach would have complicated the estimation, by leading to an uncontrolled expansion of the dataset, and delivered a dependent variable with a very small mean. Moreover, by doing so one would also have considered as possible matches which are actually not (for example, we would consider not plausible that a small firm in northern Italy apply for a loan with a small bank operating in the southern part of the country).

6.2 The determinants of the foreign lenders' procyclicality

6.2.1 The organizational form hypothesis

The first hypothesis we consider to explain the larger restriction operated by foreign intermediaries is related to the notion that these intermediaries have a different organizational form and business model. Indeed, as we have seen, foreign lenders tend to be much larger than their domestic competitors; we know from the literature that, due to a number of reasons, small and large banks tend to behave differently.

| | (1) | (2) | (3) | (4) | (5) | (6) |
|-----------------|---|---|---|---|---|---|
| Dep. variable | $\Delta \ln L$ |
| foreign | | | 0.005 | 0.005 | 0.004 | 0.004 |
| | | | (0.005) | (0.006) | (0.005) | (0.005) |
| foreign*lehman | -0.015*** | -0.015** | -0.015*** | -0.015** | -0.015*** | -0.015* |
| | (0.005) | (0.006) | (0.005) | (0.006) | (0.006) | (0.008) |
| dummy size | | | -0.005*** | -0.005 | -0.004 | -0.004 |
| | | | (0.001) | (0.006) | (0.003) | (0.004) |
| dummy size*lehi | nan | | | | -0.001 | -0.001 |
| | | | | | (0.003) | (0.005) |
| Constant | .001 | 0.001 | -0.012*** | -0.012*** | -0.012*** | -0.012*** |
| | (0.001) | (0.001) | (0.000) | (0.002) | (0.000) | (0.002) |
| obs. | 949195 | 949195 | 1071645 | 1071645 | 1071645 | 1071645 |
| \mathbf{R}^2 | | 0.322 | | 0.272 | | 0.272 |
| prob>F | .0000 | | .0000 | | .0000 | |
| bank dummies | yes | yes | no | no | no | no |
| fixed effects | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quar}$. | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quar}$. | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quar}$. | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quar}$. | firm/quar. | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quar}$. |
| cluster by | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quar}$. | bank | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quar}$. | bank | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quar}$. | bank |

Table 5. The organizational form hypothesis

Note: these regressions examine the extent to which the organizational form hypothesis can explain the procyclicality of foreign intermediaries' credit supply. Robust standard errors in parentheses. *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. The dependent variable is the delta exposure of a bank towards a borrower between quarter t and t - 1; foreign is a dummy variable taking value 1 if the observation pertains to a branch of a foreign intermediary; lehman is a dummy variable taking value 1 if the observation pertains to the period 2008Q4-2010Q4; dummy size is a dummy that takes value 1 if the total assets of the intermediary granting the credit fall in the highest 10 per cent of the distribution. Sample period is 2007Q4 - 2010Q4. Estimation technique is: panel regression with firm/quarter fixed effects clustered at the firm/quarter level in (1), (3) and (5); panel regression with firm/quarter fixed effects clustered at the bank level in (2), (4) and (6).

To capture these aspects, we first include in the baseline regression the full battery of bank dummies, which capture all time-invariant aspects that characterize each bank, among which, prominently, its organizational form (Table 5, column 1 and 2). Here we cannot include the interaction of each bank dummy with the dummy *lehman*, as this would be collinear with the *foreign*lehman* coefficient, which would not be estimated. However, later on, we will carry out a similar exercise, which will allow us to circumventing the problem (see section 6.2.2)

Next, we look directly at a bank's size, which, although being a rather crude measure of a bank's organizational form, has been widely used to capture how banks conduct their business (see for instance Gambacorta and Marques-Ibanez 2011). In particular, we include in the baseline regression a dummy that takes value 1 for those intermediaries whose total assets falls in the top 10 per cent of the distribution (among these, we find two Italian banks). As can be seen (Table 5, columns 3 to 6), neither the sign nor the size of the coefficient foreign*lehman are impaired with respect to the baseline case by the inclusion of covariates above, although its significance is slightly weakened when we introduce both the dummy size and its interaction with the dummy lehman; however, the fact that the coefficient on foreign*lehman is not affected by such inclusion is particularly important given that the dummy size is highly correlated with the dummy foreign (more than 40 per cent). Note also how the size dummy is negative, although not significant when we cluster by bank, consistently with what found elsewhere in the literature (Albertazzi and Marchetti, 2010).

While we agree that our approach may be too crude to measure a bank's organization form and business model, we are confident that we do not miss out on important aspects as in the next section we will look at a bank's balance sheet indicators and whether they can explain the intermediary's lending choices. However, for what concerns foreign banks' organizational form, as captured by bank-specific dummies and by size, it does not seem capable of explaining the procyclicality observed in the baseline estimation.

6.2.2 The international shock propagation hypothesis

In this section we study whether the documented procyclicality is connected to difficulties experienced by the foreign banks at the parent bank level, which may be either shocks that hit directly the headquarters' balance sheet or economy-wide shocks that hit the country wherein the intermediary is headquartered. In the first case, the observed restriction would be the result of the so-called "international" balance-sheet channel of transmission, according to which parent banks faced with financial difficulties redirect liquidity away from the affiliates and towards the headquarters (see for instance, Ongena et al. 2013 for a study of such mechanisms during the Lehman crisis).

To test this conjecture, we estimate model (2), adding to the baseline specification six balance sheet indicators, that account for how much each bank was hit by the crisis. These are a bank's total regulatory capital; its liquidity ratio; its funding gap; its bad loan ratio; its ROA and the size dummy used in the previous section. As usual, if foreign banks restricted their credit supply by more than domestic banks because of their more important exposure to the crisis, the inclusion of balance sheet indicators should render the coefficient on *foreign*lehman* not significant.

The results displayed in Table 6, however, show that the coefficient on *foreign*lehman* remains negative and statistically significant, which suggests that the international bank

| | 51 | |
|---|--|-----------------------|
| | (1) | (2) |
| Dep. variable | $\Delta \ln L$ | $\Delta \ln L$ |
| foreign | 0.026*** | 0.026 |
| | (0.004) | (0.017) |
| foreign*lehman | -0.017*** | -0.017* |
| | (0.004) | (0.010) |
| total regulatory capital | 0.044** | 0.044 |
| | (0.018) | (0.040) |
| liquidity ratio | 0.023** | 0.023 |
| | (0.010) | (0.052) |
| liquidity ratio [*] total regulatory capital | -0.261*** | -0.261 |
| | (0.081) | (0.268) |
| funding gap | -0.000*** | -0.000 |
| | (0.000) | (0.000) |
| bad loans ratio | -0.005 | -0.005 |
| | (0.011) | (0.037) |
| roa | 0.885*** | 0.885*** |
| | (0.688) | (2.333) |
| dummy size | -0.014*** | -0.014* |
| | (0.001) | (0.008) |
| Constant | -0.014*** | -0.014** |
| | (0.002) | (0.006) |
| obs. | 894550 | 894550 |
| \mathbb{R}^2 | | 0.337 |
| prob>F | 0.000 | |
| fixed effects | firm/quarter | firm/quarter |
| clustered by | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quarter}$ | bank |

balance sheet channel is not the main driver of foreign lenders' procyclicality.

| | (0.018) | (0.040) | | | | |
|---|---------------------------|--------------------------|--|--|--|--|
| liquidity ratio | 0.023** | 0.023 | | | | |
| | (0.010) | (0.052) | | | | |
| liquidity ratio [*] total regulatory capital | -0.261*** | -0.261 | | | | |
| | (0.081) | (0.268) | | | | |
| funding gap | -0.000*** | -0.000 | | | | |
| | (0.000) | (0.000) | | | | |
| bad loans ratio | -0.005 | -0.005 | | | | |
| | (0.011) | (0.037) | | | | |
| roa | 0 885*** | 0 885*** | | | | |
| 100 | (0.688) | (2.333) | | | | |
| dummy size | -0.01/*** | -0.01/1* | | | | |
| duminy size | (0.001) | (0.008) | | | | |
| Constant | 0.014*** | 0.014** | | | | |
| Constant | (0.014) | (0.006) | | | | |
| | 0.002) | 0.000) | | | | |
| D^2 | 894550 | 894550 | | | | |
| \mathbf{n} | 0.000 | 0.007 | | | | |
| prod>r fixed effects | 0.000 firm/quarter | firm / quarter | | | | |
| clustered by | firm/quarter | hank | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| Note: these regressions examine the extent | to which the internatio | nal bank balance | | | | |
| sheet cannel can explain the procyclicality | displayed by foreign inte | ermediaries' credit | | | | |
| supply. Robust standard errors in parenthese | es. *** p<0.01, ** p<0.0 | 05, * p<0.1. The | | | | |
| dependent variable is the delta log exposure of a bank toward a borrower between | | | | | | |
| quarter t and $t - 1$; foreign is a dummy variable taking value 1 if the observation | | | | | | |
| pertains to a branch of a foreign intermediary; <i>lehman</i> is a dummy variable taking | | | | | | |
| value 1 if the observation pertains to the period 2008Q4-2010Q4; Total capital ratio | | | | | | |
| is bank's total capital ratio as a difference from its 2007Q4-2008Q4 average; ditto for | | | | | | |
| liquidity ratio (securities to securities plus gross loans); bad loans ratio (impaired to | | | | | | |
| gross loans); ROA (net income to total liabilit | ties and equities); dummy | <i>, size</i> is a dummy | | | | |
| | | | | | | |

Table 6. The international shock transmission hypothesis: balance sheet

that takes value 1 if the total assets of the intermediary granting the credit falls in the highest 10 per cent of the distribution. Sample period is 2007Q4 - 2010Q4. Estimation technique is: panel regression with firm/quarter fixed effects clustered at the firm/quarter level in (1); panel regression with firm/quarter fixed effects clustered at the bank level in (2).

This result holds true when we cluster errors by bank (column 2), as the coefficient on *foreign*lehman* remains significant (although at 10 per cent), even if the particularly severe nature of this clustering weakens the significance of many coefficients. Note also that the estimated coefficients on the balance-sheet covariates have the signs one would have expected. The capital and the liquidity ratio have a positive impact on lending supply, while their interaction takes up a negative sign, suggesting that liquidity is more of a problem for under-capitalized banks (i.e. banks with more difficulties in accessing wholesale funding markets). The funding gap, the bad loan ratio and size have a negative impact on lending, while the ROA takes up a positive sign.

In principle, one could argue that the fact that the balance sheet items are basically contemporaneous to the dependent variable may make way for endogeneity concerns that could impair the estimation of the coefficients. For example, this would be the case if a bank adjusted its capital or liquidity ratio in order to match variations in credit demand. We argue that in our case simultaneity issues are circumvented because (i) we use firm/quarter fixed effects to effectively control for credit demand and risk; (ii) after Lehman, wholesale financial markets were fully disrupted and shares of banks in the stock market collapsed: this made very difficult, for instance, for undercapitalized banks to raise new capital in order to match credit demand and left deleveraging as the only option for these intermediaries; (iii) we look at consolidated balance sheet data: it is unlikely that a large foreign banking group adjusts its capitalitazation or any other balance-sheet indicator just in order to match credit demand in Italy, as the market share of branches of foreign banks in Italy is rather small and the Italian credit market itself represents a small part of the overall foreign bank activities.

As a final exercise to investigate (and rule out) possible endogeneity issues, we have conducted an estimation including into the regression, besides the usual firm/quarter fixed effects, a large set of bank/time fixed effects. Since these effectively control for all bank specific characteristics, even if time varying and/or unobservable, they will control as well for the effect of a bank's balance sheet on its lending dynamics. The shortcoming of this is that, given that this set of fixed effects makes redundant any other regressor which is bankspecific, even if time varying, it cannot test if the coefficient for *foreign*lehman* is negative. What we can do, is instead to check if the differences of such coefficient across types of borrowers, that we have documented above (Table A4, column 1), are observable even once these controls are inserted. The results are shown in column 2 of the same table. Despite the addition of this very large set of fixed effects, the coefficient for the triple interaction *top rating*foreign*lehman* keeps being positive and statistically significant, although at a lower level. This allows us to conclude again that foreign banks behaved procyclically compared to domestic banks, although predominantly towards riskier borrowers, even when bank balance sheet channel is controlled via bank/year fixed effects.

To further investigate the International shock propagation hypothesis, besides testing for the international bank balance sheet channel, we also consider whether the stronger restriction operated by foreign banks reflected the state of the economy at the headquarters' level. Note that by doing so we circumvent the endogeneity concerns that may apply to testing the international bank balance sheet channel, as arguably the state of the economy at the headquarters' country level is fully exogenous to credit supply in Italy

To test for this conjecture, we proceed as before, by including in the regressions measures of such shocks in order to verify if the coefficient on *foreign*lehman* becomes insignificant. In practice, we add to the baseline regression two indicators of the relative severity with which a foreign country' financial sector and real economy have been hit by the crisis compared to Italy (*rsi*, or relative severity index).

| | (1) | (2) | (3) | (4) |
|----------------|----------------|-----------------------|----------------|-----------------------|
| Dep, variable | $\Delta \ln L$ | $\Delta \ln L$ | $\Delta \ln L$ | $\Delta \ln L$ |
| foreign | 0.001 | 0.001 | -0.006 | -0.006 |
| | (0.005) | (0.004) | (0.005) | (0.004) |
| foreign*lehman | -0.015*** | -0.015** | -0.014*** | -0.014** |
| | (0.005) | (0.006) | (0.005) | (0.006) |
| rsi_{SP} | -0.003 | -0.003 | | |
| | (0.007) | (0.009) | | |
| rsi_{GDP} | | | 0.007*** | 0.007*** |
| | | | (0.001) | (0.002) |
| Constant | -0.012*** | -0.015** | -0.013*** | -0.013*** |
| | (0.000) | (0.006) | (0.000) | (0.002) |
| obs. | 1071556 | 1071556 | 1068148 | 1068148 |
| \mathbf{R}^2 | | 0.272 | | 0.272 |
| Prob>F | 0.000 | | 0.000 | |
| fixed effects | firm/quart. | firm/quart. | firm/quart. | firm/quart. |
| clustered by | firm/quart. | bank | firm/quart. | bank |

Table 7. The international shock propagation hypothesis:stock prices and economic outlook

Note: these regressions examine the extent to which the international shock propagation hypothesis can explain the procyclicality of foreign intermediaries' credit supply. Robust standard errors in parentheses. *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. The dependent variable is the delta log exposure of a bank toward a borrower between quarter t and t - 1; foreign is a dummy variable taking value 1 if the observation pertains to a branch of a foreign intermediary; lehman is a dummy variable taking value 1 if the observation pertains to the period 2008Q4-2010Q4; rsiSP is a dummy taking value 1 if the foreign bank that grants the loan in the dependent variable is headquartered in a country less severely hit than Italy on the basis of bank stock prices' comparison; rsiGDP is a similar indicator based on GDP deveolpments. Sample period is 2007Q4 - 2010Q4. Estimation technique is: panel regression with firm/quarter fixed effects clustered at the firm/quarter in (1) and (3); level panel regression with firm/quarter fixed effects clustered at the bank level in (2) and (4).

The first is the dummy rsi_{SP} that takes value 1 if a foreign bank is from a country *less* hit by the crisis (than Italy) on the basis of a comparison between the developments of stock price indexes (i.e. relative to the whole banking sector in Italy and in the country of origin; we are not considering the stock price of the individual bank); the second is

the dummy rsi_{GDP} that similarly takes value 1 if a foreign bank comes from a country *less* severely hit by the crisis on the basis of a comparison between the developments of GDP.¹⁶

The results of this test (Table 7) show that the *foreign*lehman* coefficient remains significant and negative to the addition of the two covariates, both when we cluster errors at the firm/quarter as well as the bank level.

Further, when also including the interaction of the dummy rsi_{SP} with the dummy foreign *lehman, we observe that banks headquartered in countries whose banking sector stock price index experienced the most severe losses have passed on a milder restriction of credit supply in Italy, probably reflecting a more limited re-composition of their lending portfolio towards their domestic (and deteriorated) credit market. This evidence runs against what one would expect if the international bank lending channel of shock transmission were the main driving force of the observed procyclicality.

Together with the results on banks' balance sheet channel presented above, the evidence presented in this section indicates that the international shock propagation hypothesis is not sufficient to explain the procyclicality of foreign banks' lending.

6.2.3 The functional distance hypothesis

The last hypothesis we put forward moves from the consideration that the global financial crisis determined a sudden and unexpected increase in the credit risk associated with funding Italian borrowers, which in turn increased banks' risk-management costs, in a way directly proportional to their distance from the local borrowers. Accordingly, it may have become more convenient for more distant banks to directly cut on lending, determining the observed procyclicality; we call this hypothesis "functional distance".

The notion of functional distance, as those of shock transmission and organizational form, is often elusive, but the fact that such a channel is at work is supported by the finding that the procyclicality has been induced more by those foreign banks headquartered outside the Euro Area, and less so by those within it.

Indeed, substituting the *foreign* dummy in the baseline regression with three dummies that single out foreign banks according to their being part of a increasingly farther economic areas (Euro area, other European Union countries and Rest of the World; Table A5), the interactions of these new dummies with the dummy *lehman* show that foreign banks resident in a country in the Euro Area, which is likely the "functionally closest", or in the European Union, did not behave in a statistically different way from domestic banks; banks headquartered in the Rest of the World, instead, restricted credit significantly more.

Similarly, taking advantage of the Doing Business database we estimate model (2) by adding to the baseline regression a measure of the difference in the investors' protection index and years taken to resolve insolvency cases between the country of residence of the foreign intermediary and Italy (see also Mian 2006 for a study of the effects of cultural

¹⁶More precisely, to calculate rsi_{SP} we used Datastream information to compute the delta in banks' stock prices index between 2008Q4 and 2010Q4. Next, we assigned value 1 to those countries that experienced a smaller decrease than Italy (and zero to those that experience a larger one, that is, Spain, the Netherlands, Iceland, the US, the UK and Japan). The dummy rsi_{GDP} , instead, assigns value 1 to those countries less hit by the crisis in terms of their GDP performance (and zero to those more severely hit, which are Spain, Finland, Slovenia, the UK and the US).

-and geographic- distance on lending policies). Both indicators show that the larger such difference the more negative the impact on local credit supply; further the higher such differences the stronger the credit restriction operated after the collapse of Lehman brothers (see Table A6).

An alternative way to examine the role of functional distance is to look at whether a foreign bank operates in the destination market as branch or as a subsidiary. Up to now, to reflect the different supervisory regime, we have classified subsidiaries as domestic banks, also in virtue of a few studies have documented that subsidiaries of foreign banks are more akin to domestic banks in terms of retail funding and presence on the territory (see Barba Navaretti et al. 2010).¹⁷

However, the decision to enter a foreign market with a subsidiary usually is the result of an acquisition procedure that preserves the acquired bank's local brand, which suggests the foreign intermediary's intention to establish a "closer" presence in the local market, especially given that branches could in principle focus also on retail activities (and sometimes successfully did so). Indeed, we show that if we had classified subsidiaries of foreign banks as foreign banks, the estimated magnitude of foreign procyclicality would have been lower than what we found (Table A7, column 1). Further, the inclusion of the dummy *branch* in such regression shows that indeed the difference between foreign and domestic banks observed in the post-Lehman is ascribable to branches only (column 2).

Our main test of functional distance looks at the notion of local funding gap, i.e. the ratio of loans to deposits computed at the unconsolidated level. Such indicator captures by how much the bank is actually "present on" the territory by scaling down its lending activities by the amount of retail deposits it collects locally. We proceed as before, by adding the covariate *local funding gap* to the baseline regression.

The results in Table 8 confirm our hypothesis: the direct effect of the local funding gap on lending policies is always statistically significant at 1%, while the significance of the interaction of *foreign*lehman* goes down when we add the additional covariate (column 1 and 2) and it disappears when we add the other interaction terms (column 3 and 4). Accordingly, we conclude that this indicator largely captures what has driven foreign banks' procyclicality.¹⁸

Functional "closedness" is a concept that captures those banks which rely on a stable permanence on the local territory: one alternative way to test this hypothesis is to consider a direct measure of the extent of credit relationship. We define the variable *relationship lending* as the share of total credit granted in quarter t to firm i from bank b as a percentage of the total credit granted to that firm in that quarter.

¹⁷Concerning the supervisory regimes, branches are subject to a supervisory model significantly different from that applied to subsidiaries of Italian law: the controls on the first are entrusted almost entirely to the authorities of the Member States of origin, with the notable exception of liquidity risk, which is monitored by the authorities of the host countries. Controls on subsidiaries are instead more intense and similar to those on Italian banks.

¹⁸Note also that while it may be argued that the local funding gap could reflect the international propagation of shock (to the extent that is eventually influenced by the consolidated funding gap at the headquarters' level), we can exclude this concern, since the results just presented also holds in a specification when both measures are simultaneously considered).

| | (1) | (2) | (3) | (4) |
|-----------------------------|--|--|--|--|
| Dep. variable | $\Delta \ln L$ | $\Delta \ln L$ | $\Delta \ln L$ | $\Delta \ln L$ |
| foreign | 0.005 | 0.005 | -0.005 | -0.005 |
| | (0.005) | (0.005) | (0.004) | (0.006) |
| foreign*lehman | -0.013** | -0.013* | -0.005 | -0.005 |
| | (0.006) | (0.007) | (0.005) | (0.004) |
| local funding gap | -0.009*** | -0.009*** | -0.009*** | -0.009*** |
| | (0.000) | (0.002) | (0.001) | (0.002) |
| local fund. gap*foreign | | | 0.007^{*} | 0.007 |
| | | | (0.004) | (0.005) |
| local fund. gap*lehman | | | 0.000 | 0.000 |
| | | | (0.001) | (0.002) |
| local fund. gap*for.*lehman | | | -0.005 | -0.005 |
| | | | (0.004) | (0.005) |
| Constant | -0.002*** | -0.002 | -0.002*** | -0.002 |
| | (0.000) | (0.002) | (0.000) | (0.002) |
| obs. | 935275 | 935275 | 935275 | 935275 |
| \mathbb{R}^2 | | 0.324 | | 0.324 |
| Prob>F | 0.000 | | 0.000 | |
| fixed effects | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quarter}$ | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quarter}$ | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quarter}$ | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quarter}$ |
| clustered by | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quarter}$ | bank | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quarter}$ | bank |

Table 8. The functional distance hypothesis: local funding gap

Note: these regressions examine the extent to which the functional distance hypothesis can explain the procyclicality of foreign intermediaries' credit supply. Robust standard errors in parentheses. *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. The dependent variable is the delta log exposure of a bank toward a borrower between quarter t and t - 1; foreign is a dummy variable taking value 1 if the observation pertains to a branch of a foreign intermediary. local funding gap is the ratio of loans to deposit (in percentage points) computed at the unconsolidated level for branches of foreign banks. Sample period is 2007Q4 - 2010Q4. Estimation technique is: panel regression with firm/quarter fixed effects clustered at the firm/quarter level in (1) and (3), and at the bank level in (2) and (4).

We find that our relationship lending variable has a direct, significant and positive effect on lending dynamics (Table 9). The dummy *foreign*lehman* is somewhat weakened but remains significant. Further, its interaction with the dummy *foreign* is negative and significant, suggesting that banks in this category tend to provide less intense credit relationship than domestic banks. These results remain robust when we cluster errors at the bank level.

| | (1) | (2) |
|--|----------------|----------------|
| Dep. variable | $\Delta \ln L$ | $\Delta \ln L$ |
| foreign | 0.009* | 0.026*** |
| | (0.005) | (0.008) |
| foreign*lehman | -0.010** | -0.016* |
| 5 | (0.005) | (0.009) |
| relationship lending | 0.002*** | 0.002*** |
| 1 0 | (0.000) | (0.000) |
| relationship lending*foreign | | -0.001*** |
| | | (0.000) |
| relationship lending [*] lehman | | 0.000 |
| | | (0.000) |
| relationship lending*for.*lehman | | 0.000 |
| | | (0.000) |
| Constant | -0.073*** | -0.073*** |
| | (0.001) | (0.001) |
| obs. | 1071645 | 1071645 |
| prob>F | 0.0000 | 0.0000 |
| fixed effects | firm/quart. | firm/quart. |
| clustered by | firm/quart. | firm/quart. |

Table 9. The functional distance hypothesis: relationship lending

Note: these regressions examine the extent to which the functional distance hypothesis can explain the procyclicality of foreign intermediaries' credit supply. Robust standard errors in parentheses. *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. The dependent variable is the delta log exposure of a bank toward a borrower between quarter t and t-1; foreign is a dummy variable taking value 1 if the observation pertains to a branch of a foreign intermediary; lehman is a dummy variable taking value 1 if the observation pertains to the period 2008Q4-2010Q4; relationship lending is the share of credit obtained by firm i from bank b in quarter t as the percentage of the total credit received by firm i in that quarter. Sample period is 2007Q4 - 2010Q4. Estimation technique is: panel regression with firm/quarter fixed effects clustered at the firm/quarter level.

Importantly, the ability of the local funding gap variable to explain the procyclicality captured by the coefficient on *foreign*lehman* is robust to the inclusion of all the variables that we examined so far (size, balance sheet indicators and macroeconomic and financial conditions of the countries where foreign banks are headquartered).

6.3 The efficiency of foreign lending

It is natural to ask how distance and the international shock propagation hypothesis interact. In our view this is interesting, as it bears implications regarding the efficiency of credit flows with foreign intermediaries. Obviously this type of question is particularly complex: while we do not aim at providing a fully-fledged answer to such crucial question, the simple econometric exercise we present in this section can shed some light on the issue.

| | | | <u> </u> | |
|----------------------------|--|--|--|--|
| | (1) | (2) | (3) | (4) |
| Dep. variable | $\Delta \ln L$ | $\Delta \ln L$ | $\Delta \ln L$ | $\Delta \ln L$ |
| foreign | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.000 |
| | (0.004) | (0.005) | (0.004) | (0.005) |
| foreign*lehman | -0.014** | -0.014*** | -0.014** | -0.014*** |
| | (0.006) | (0.005) | (0.006) | (0.005) |
| rsi_{SP} | 0.017 | 0.017 | 0.032*** | 0.032* |
| | (0.010) | (0.012) | (0.011) | (0.017) |
| rsi_{SP} *foreign*lehman | 0.052^{*} | 0.052 | -0.043*** | -0.043** |
| | (0.028) | (0.246) | (0.015) | (0.019) |
| Func. distance | Euro Area | Euro Area | other | other |
| Constant | -0.012*** | -0.012*** | -0.012*** | -0.012*** |
| | (0.002) | (0.000) | (0.002) | (0.000) |
| obs. | 1067610 | 1067610 | 1071556 | 1071556 |
| Prob>F | | 0.000 | | 0.000 |
| R^2 | 0.271 | | 0.272 | |
| fixed effects | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quarter}$ | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quarter}$ | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quarter}$ | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quarter}$ |
| clustered by | bank | firm/quarter | bank | firm/quarter |

Table 10. The efficiency of foreign lending

Note: these regressions explore the connection between the international shock propagation hypothesis and functional distance. Robust standard errors in parentheses. *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. The dependent variable is the delta log exposure of a bank toward a borrower between quarter t and t - 1; foreign is a dummy variable taking value 1 if the observation pertains to a branch of a foreign intermediary; lehman is a dummy variable taking value 1 if the observation pertains to the period 2008Q4-2010Q4; rsiSP is dummy taking value 1 if the foreign bank that grants the loan in the dependent variable is headquartered in a country less severely hit than Italy on the basis of stock prices' comparison. Sample period is 2007Q4 -2010Q4. Estimation technique is: panel regression with firm/quarter fixed effects clustered at the firm/quarter level.

In particular, one could classify cross-border lending flows by distinguishing those that are coherent with some risk sharing scheme (i.e. a country hit by a negative shock "absorbs" resources from aboard) and those which are not. In the latter case, international lending flows could be the outcome of ex post capital reallocations induced by idiosyncratic shocks to the expected returns in individual countries (capital is redirected away from a hit country, towards less risky, and possibly more profitable, areas).

To conduct this test, we run the baseline specification augmented with our measure of the intensity with which the financial sector of the country where foreign banks are headquartered has been hit by the crisis (rsi_{SP}) interacted with the dummy foreign*lehman. The results in Table 10 show that when the credit flows involve banks from "closer" countries, credit flows are compatible with ex-ante efficient flows (i.e. those coherent with risk sharing), while this appears not to be the case when international lending is conducted with farther away banks.

In particular, the results confirm our conjecture that foreign banks headquartered in closer countries which have been relatively less hit by the crisis than Italy, in terms of financial markets developments, transmitted *less* of a restriction than foreign banks similarly hit by the crisis but located farther away from Italy. In other words, for closer banks, the restriction was related to the intensity of the financial shock experienced at home, while this is less true for banks located farther away.¹⁹

6.4 The substitutability of foreign credit

From the point of view of the borrowers, the high procyclicality of foreign lenders may not be troublesome, to the extent that they are able to substitute out shrinking funding sources with other, more available, ones. To assess the extent to which Italian firms have been able to do so, we regress total credit growth at the firm level (i.e. pooling together all credit lines that the firm has in a given period) on the percentage of total credit which was granted to that firm by foreign banks in the preceding period (which we call $foreign_exposure_{ft-1}$),

$$\Delta L_{ft} = a_{0t} + a_1 foreign_exposure_{ft-1}$$

$$+ a_2 foreign_exposure_{ft-1} * lehman_t + a_3 lehman_t + a_4 \hat{d}_{ft} + u_{ft}$$

$$(4)$$

If firms have not been able to fully substitute the reduction in foreign funding sources that we have documented for the post Lehman period, then the estimated a_2 coefficient should be negative. Conducting this exercise, however, encounters the same identification issues discussed above. Precisely, if some firms select into borrowing from foreign instead of from domestic banks, $foreign_exposure_{ft-1}$ could be correlated with unobservable demand shocks, rendering biased an estimation of a_2 which does not take into account demand conditions. We address this issue by including in the regression the estimated fixed effects \hat{d}_{ft} , which were introduced in (1) precisely to capture credit demand factors.

¹⁹A more complete reading of our results about ex-post and ex-ante efficiency should take into account that, at least in principle, the flows from a healthy country to a hit country due to risk sharing (though ex-ante efficient) may generate financial contagion, that is, they may transmit financial instability from the former to the latter economy. For example, it could be the case that the outflows from banks heavily exposed to a country hit by a shock may induce bank runs in the healthy economy, with consequences worse than those implied by the direct exposure. As separating out these two aspects requires much additional work that goes beyond the aim of this paper, here we limit ourselves to point out the issue, while leaving it to future research.

| | (1) | (2) | (3) |
|--------------------------------|----------------------|----------------------|----------------------|
| | $\Delta \ln L_{TOT}$ | $\Delta \ln L_{TOT}$ | $\Delta \ln L_{TOT}$ |
| exposure toward a foreign bank | -0.000 | 0.000* | -0.000 |
| | (0.000) | (0.000) | (0.000) |
| exposure*lehman | -0.000 | 0.00002 | -0.00009*** |
| | (0.000) | (0.000) | (0.000) |
| lehman | -0.008*** | -0.020*** | -0.001 |
| | (0.001) | (0.001) | (0.001) |
| estimated demand FE | | | 0.791^{***} |
| | | | (0.014) |
| Constant | 0.010^{***} | 0.015*** | -0.010*** |
| | (0.001) | (0.002) | (0.001) |
| obs. | 347611 | 347611 | 323853 |
| R^2 | 0.000 | | 0.390 |
| prob>F | | .0001 | |
| fixed effects | no | firm | estimated |
| clustered by | | firm | mm/quarter |

Table 11. Substitutability of foreign credit

Note: these regressions examine the extent to which Italian borrowers have been able to substitute foreign with domestic funding. Robust standard errors in parentheses. *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. The dependent variable is the delta log in total credit granted to a borrower *i* from quarter t-1 to t; *lehman* is a dummy variable taking value 1 if the observation pertains to the period 2008Q4-2010Q4; *exposure towards a foreign bank* is borrower *i*'s credit granted in quarter t-1 by foreign lenders; *estimated demand fixed effects* is the firm/quarter fixed effects estimated in the baseline equation. Sample period is 2007Q4 - 2010Q4. Estimation technique is: OLS in (1); panel regression with firm fixed effects clustered at the firm level in (2); OLS in (3).

Table 11 presents the relevant estimates. If the unobservable demand dynamics are not or only partially -with firm fixed effects- controlled for (column 1 and 2), it results that being exposed to a foreign lender did not cause distress for borrower, as the coefficient on the *exposure* variable interacted with the *lehman* dummy is not significant. However, if we include the estimated fixed effects \hat{d}_{ft} , it turns out that borrowers encountered difficulties in substituting foreign funding with other sources, and this finding is significant at the 1% level.

Back of the envelope calculation show that on average, a borrower with a reliance on foreign credit in the 25th percentile (0 per cent of total credit) displayed a post Lehman total credit growth which is roughly 2 percentage points, in annual terms, larger than that experienced by a borrower in the 75th percentile (67 per cent of the total credit).²⁰

²⁰This may not be a negligible effect as it might look, in particular if one takes into account the following caveat. As the borrower/quarter fixed effects are obtained form the estimation of another regression,

7 Conclusions

In this work, we have investigated whether after the outburst of the global financial crisis foreign banks operating in Italy behaved more procyclically than domestic banks and what could explain this different behavior.

Our findings document that the post-Lehman contraction of the credit extended by foreign banks, sharper than that of their domestic competitors, reflects less favorable supply dynamics and does not (just) result from a stronger weakening of the demand side. This is true both when we look at the total amount of credit granted and at the openings of new credit lines (i.e. the intensive and extensive margins). The harsher contraction of lending supply operated by foreign banks is rather widespread across borrowers, although it did not concern very large borrowers or very high quality firms.

Concerning the determinants of such procyclicality, we observe that it can be explained only in minor part by the fact that foreign banks tend to be very large institutions, suggesting that the organizational form of foreign intermediaries did not constitute the main driving force of their lending behavior. This view is further corroborated by estimations in which the organization form of a bank is controlled by a set of bank dummies.

Turning to the international propagation of shocks, developments in the balance sheet conditions of individual banks explain at most part of foreign lenders procyclicality, although they affected its intensity. This is confirmed when, instead of banks balance sheet conditions, we look at the economic conditions of the country in which foreign banks are headquartered.

Our findings document instead that the behavior of foreign lenders has been strongly influenced by the functional distance between their headquarters and Italy. We show that the credit restriction has been predominantly operated by lenders with a higher ratio of loans extended in Italy to deposits also raised locally (the local funding gap), banks which can be thought of as less deeply involved with the local economy. In a similar vein, we also demonstrate that the procyclicality is almost entirely induced by branches of foreign banks rather than by foreign subsidiaries. To corroborate the interpretation of these findings in terms of distance, we also show that the foreign lenders' procyclicality was stronger for credit relationships in which the (foreign) bank is not the main lender of the borrowing firm.

We show that distance also influences the relationship between the financial condition of the country of origin and lending supply in Italy. More precisely, we document that among banks headquartered in distant countries the lending restriction operated in Italy was more intense for those intermediaries based in economies which financial sector has been less hit by the crisis, while the opposite is true for closer economies. We argue that this evidence provides interesting normative indications, as it implies that the crossborder flows of credit among functionally close countries is coherent with some notion of risk sharing.

Finally, we find that Italian firms have been able to compensate only partially the

they are measured with some noise (generated regressor problem). The sign of the estimated coefficients for both D proxy and *exposure*lehman* and the negative correlation between these two regressors (-0.0061***) suggest that we might be over-estimating the coefficient for *exposure*lehman*. Our exercise would therefore only provide an upper bound of the extent to which firms have been able to compensate the reduction of credit supply by foreign banks.

contraction of lending supply by foreign banks, through a greater recourse to credit from domestic intermediaries.

To draw some concluding considerations, our results suggest that foreign intermediaries that establish a steady presence in the host-country, with such commitment measurable by the extent to which the bank interfaces itself with retail customers, contribute less to the procyclicality that generally accompanies financial integration. Also, according to our analysis, foreign intermediation seems to be more desirable when it involves banks headquartered in areas that are geographically close to the host market, as proximity relates to a better ability to handle unexpected increase in risk, and hence to less elastic responses to shocks.

8 Appendix

| | j . | | | | | |
|---------------------|--------------------|------|--------|---------|-------|--------|
| | Largest 5 domestic | | | Foreign | | |
| Variable | Obs. | Mean | Median | Obs. | Mean | Median |
| total assets | 58 | 206 | 184 | 468 | 673 | 581 |
| total capital ratio | 56 | 10.5 | 10.4 | 442 | 13.0 | 12.4 |
| liquidity ratio | 58 | 61% | 54% | 446 | 35% | 32% |
| funding gap ratio | 58 | 842% | 155% | 445 | 1252% | 138% |
| bad loan ratio | 48 | 2.9% | 1.7% | 365 | 3.3% | 1.7% |
| ROA | 56 | .53% | .52% | 2220 | .10% | 31% |

Table A1. Summary statistics: large domestic and foreign banks

Note: summary statistics for all bank-quarter matches included in the dataset. total assets are in billion euro; total capital ratio is the ratio of regulatory capital to risk weighted assets; liquidity ratio is the ratio of securities other than shares to the sum of securities other than shares and loans; funding gap is the ratio of loans to total deposits ratio; bad loan ratio is the ratio of bad loans to total loans; ROA is the ratio of net income to total assets. Balance-sheet data are consolidated.

| Table A2. Summary statistics: Infits | | | | | | |
|--------------------------------------|--------|------|--------|--------|------|--------|
| | sample | | | Cerved | | |
| Variable | Obs. | Mean | Median | Obs. | Mean | Median |
| assets | 756345 | 35.1 | 3.51 | 614264 | 41.1 | 6.6 |
| self-financing | 573269 | 0.3 | 0.1 | 518757 | 1.1 | 0.2 |
| roe | 542035 | 2.1% | 5.4% | 553460 | 2.2% | 5.0% |
| rating | 804787 | .28 | 0 | 593184 | .33 | 0 |

Table A2. Summary statistics: firms

Note: summary statistics for the sample are based on all firm/quarter matches included in the dataset pertaining to firms which are also reported in Cerved; summary statistics for Cerved are based on yearly balance sheets for all firms included in that database (for computational reasons only year 2010 is considered). Assets are in million euros; rating is a dummy variable taking value 1 for firms with Z-score higher than or equal to 7.

| | (1) | (2) | (3) |
|---------------|--------------|--|----------------------|
| Dep. variable | ΔL | ΔL_{fillin} | $\Delta \ln L_{uti}$ |
| foreign | 0.009*** | 0.001 | 0.071^{***} |
| | (0.002) | (0.001) | (0.014) |
| FOLE | -0.011*** | -0.002** | -0.075*** |
| | (0.002) | (0.001) | (0.016) |
| Constant | 0.008*** | 0.000 | -0.000 |
| | (0.000) | (0.000) | (0.001) |
| obs. | 1156173 | 1150043 | 1088281 |
| prob>F | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.002 |
| fixed effects | firm/quarter | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quarter}$ | firm/quarter |
| cluster by | firm/quarter | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quarter}$ | firm/quarter |

Table A3. Main robustness tests on the benchmark specification

Note: these regressions examine the robustness of the procyclicality of foreign lenders to alternative definitions of the dependent variable. Robust standard errors in parentheses. *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. The dependent variable is: in (1) the delta exposure of a bank towards a borrower between quarter t and t-1; in (2) the delta exposure of a bank toward a borrower between quarter t and t-1including the delta induced by the reimbursement of the loan; in (3) the delta credit utilized -rather than granted- of a bank toward a borrower between quarter t and t-1; foreign is a dummy variable taking value 1 if the observation pertains to a branch of a foreign intermediary; lehman is a dummy variable taking value 1 if the observation pertains to the period 2008Q4-2010Q4. Sample period is 2007Q4 - 2010Q4. Estimation technique is: panel regression with firm/quarter fixed effects clustered at the firm/quarter level.

| | (1) | (2) |
|---------------------------------|--|--|
| Dep. variable | $\Delta \ln L$ | $\Delta \ln L$ |
| foreign | -0.000 | 056*** |
| | (0.009) | (.012) |
| foreign*lehman | -0.000 | 006 |
| | (0.011) | (.011) |
| dummy small firm*foreign | 0.007 | .001 |
| | (0.010) | (.010) |
| dummy small firm*foreign*lehman | -0.020* | 012 |
| | (0.011) | (.011) |
| top rating*foreign | -0.005 | 005 |
| | (0.005) | (.005) |
| top rating*foreign*lehman | 0.013** | .012* |
| | (0.006) | (.006) |
| Constant | -0.013*** | .010*** |
| | (0.000) | (.002) |
| obs. | 522277 | 465801 |
| prob>F. | 0.000 | |
| fixed effects | firm/quarter | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quarter}$ |
| | mm/ quarter | & bank/year |
| clustered by | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quarter}$ | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quarter}$ |

Table A4. Foreign lending by borrower's type

Note: these regressions examine whether the procyclicality of foreign lenders was targeted to particular segment of borrowers, even when time varying and invariant bank characteristics are controlled for via bank/year fixed effects. Robust standard errors in parentheses. *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. The dependent variable is the delta log exposure of a bank towards a borrower between quarter t and t - 1 (we exclude outliers below the 1st percentile and above the 99th); foreign is a dummy variable taking value 1 if the observation pertains to a branch of a foreign intermediary; lehman is a dummy variable taking value 1 if the observation pertains to the period 2008Q4-2010Q4; dummy small firm is a dummy that takes value 1 if the borrower's size in total assets is below the 95th percentile; top rating is a dummy taking value 1 if the borrower's cerved rating is one of the three best available (out of nine; firms with no rating are classified as missing). Sample period is 2007Q4 - 2010Q4. Estimation technique is panel regression with firm/quarter fixed effects clustered at the firm/quarter level.

| | (1) | (2) |
|--|--|--|
| Dep. variable | $\Delta \ln L$ | $\Delta \ln L$ |
| $\mathrm{foreign}_{EUROarea}$ | -0.007*** | -0.007*** |
| | (0.002) | (0.003) |
| $foreign_{EuropeanUnion}$ | -0.008 | -0.008 |
| - | (0.023) | (0.031) |
| $\mathrm{foreign}_{RestoftheWorld}$ | 0.001 | 0.001 |
| - • | (0.005) | (0.004) |
| $\mathrm{foreign}_{EUROarea}^*\mathrm{lehman}$ | 0.005^{*} | 0.005 |
| | (0.003) | (0.004) |
| $foreign_{EuropeanUnion}$ *lehman | -0.045* | -0.045 |
| | (0.025) | (0.032) |
| $\mathrm{foreign}_{Restof the World}^*$ lehman | -0.013** | -0.013** |
| · | (0.005) | (0.005) |
| Constant | -0.009*** | -0.009*** |
| | (0.001) | (0.003) |
| obs. | 1071645 | 1071645 |
| \mathbb{R}^2 | | 0.272 |
| prob>F | 0.000 | |
| fixed effects | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quarter}$ | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quarter}$ |
| clustered by | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quarter}$ | bank |

Table A5. The functional distance hypothesis: economic area

Note: these regressions examine the extent to which the functional distance hypothesis can explain the procyclicality of foreing intermediaries' credit supply. Robust standard errors in parentheses. *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. foreignEUROarea is a dummy that takes value 1 if the observation refers to a branch of a foreign bank which is headquartered in the Euro Area; ditto for foreignEuropeanUnion and foreignRestOfTheWorld; lehman is a dummy variable taking value 1 if the observation pertains to the period 2008Q4-2010Q4. Sample period is 2007Q4 - 2010Q4. Estimation technique is: panel regression with firm/quarter fixed effects clustered at the firm/quarter level in (1) and panel regression with firm/quarter fixed effects clustered at the bank level in (2).

| | (1) | (2) | (3) | (4) |
|-------------------------------------|--|-----------------------|--|--|
| foreign | -0.014 | -0.014 | 0.010 | 0.010 |
| | (0.011) | (0.009) | (0.025) | (0.012) |
| foreign*lehman | -0.015*** | -0.015** | -0.045* | -0.045*** |
| | (0.005) | (0.006) | (0.026) | (0.017) |
| years taken to resolve insolvencies | -0.000 | -0.000 | 0.007 | 0.007** |
| | (0.002) | (0.002) | (0.005) | (0.003) |
| degree of investor protection | -0.007*** | -0.007*** | -0.005 | -0.005 |
| | (0.002) | (0.002) | (0.006) | (0.004) |
| inv. prot.*foreign*lehman | | | -0.003 | -0.003 |
| | | | (0.006) | (0.005) |
| years to res. ins.*foreign*lehman | | | -0.009* | -0.009* |
| | | | (0.005) | (0.005) |
| Constant | -0.012*** | -0.012*** | -0.012*** | -0.012*** |
| | (0.000) | (0.002) | (0.000) | (0.002) |
| obs. | 1071502 | 1071502 | 1071502 | 1071502 |
| R^2 | | 0.272 | | 0.272 |
| prob>F | 0.000 | | 0.000 | |
| fixed effects | firm/quarter | firm/quarter | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quarter}$ | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quarter}$ |
| clustered by | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quarter}$ | bank | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quarter}$ | \mathbf{banks} |

Table A6 The functional distance hypothesis: cultural distance

Note: these regressions examine the extent to which the functional distance hypothesis can explain the procyclicality of foreign intermediaries' credit supply. Robust standard errors in parentheses. *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. The dependent variable is the delta log exposure of a bank toward a borrower between quarter t and t - 1; foreign is a dummy variable taking value 1 if the observation pertains to a branch of a foreign intermediary; lehman is a dummy variable taking value 1 if the observation pertains to the period 2008Q4-2010Q4; years taken to resolve insolvencies is the difference in years between the years taken to resolve an insolvency in Italy and in the country where the bank is headquartered (i.e. it is zero for domestic banks); ditto for the degree of investors protection. Sample period is 2007Q4 - 2010Q4. Estimation technique is: panel regression with firm/quarter fixed effects clustered at the firm/quarter level in (1) and (3) and panel regression with firm/quarter fixed effects clustered at the bank level in (2) and (4).

| | (1) | (2) |
|----------------------------------|--|--|
| Dep variable | $\Delta \ln L$ | $\Delta \ln L$ |
| all foreign banks | 0.005** | 0.007*** |
| - | (0.002) | (0.002) |
| all foreign banks*lehman | -0.008*** | -0.004 |
| 0 | (0.002) | (0.003) |
| branch | | -0.005 |
| | | (0.005) |
| branch*foreign | | 0.000 |
| Station foroign | | (0.000) |
| branch*lehman | | |
| | | (0.000) |
| branch*all foreign banks *lehman | | -0.011** |
| | | (0.006) |
| Constant | -0.003*** | -0.013*** |
| | (0.001) | (0.000) |
| aba | 1071645 | 1071645 |
| obs. | 1071045 | 1071045 |
| prob>F | 0.002 | .000 |
| fixed Effects | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quarter}$ | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quarter}$ |
| cluster by | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quarter}$ | $\operatorname{firm}/\operatorname{quarter}$ |

Table A7. The procyclicality of foreign lending by affiliate's type

Note: these regressions examine whether the procyclicality of foreign intermediaries' credit supply was passed on by branches or subsidiaries. Robust standard errors in parentheses. *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. The dependent variable is the delta log exposure of a bank toward a borrower between quarter t and t - 1; lehman is a dummy variable taking value 1 if the observation pertains to the period 2008Q4-2010Q4; all foreign banks is a dummy variable taking value 1 if the observation pertains to a foreign intermediary, either branch or subsidiary; branch is a dummy variable taking value 1 if the observation pertains to a foreign intermediary which operates as a branch. Sample period is 2007Q4 - 2010:Q4. Estimation technique is: FE with firm/quarter fixed effects clustered at the firm/quarter level in (1) and (2); FE with firm/quarter fixed effects clustered at the bank level in (2).

9 References

Albertazzi, U. and D. Marchetti Jr., 2010. Credit supply, flight to quality and evergreening: an analysis of bank-firm relationships after Lehman. Bank of Italy Temi di Discussione, No. 756.

Alessandrini, P., M. Croci and A. Zazzaro, 2009. The geography of banking power: the role of functional distance. In The banks and the Italian economy, edited by Damiano Silipo. Physica Springer Berling Heidelberg Eds..

Allen, F., A. Hryckiewicz, O. Kowalewski and G. Tumer-Alkan, 2011. Transmission of the bank liquidity shocks in loan and deposit markets: the role of interbank borrowing and market monitoring. Wharton Financial Institutions Center Working Paper, No. 10-28.

Allen, F., X. Gu and O. Kowalewski, 2011a. Corporate governance and intra-group transactions in European bank-holding companies during the crisis. *Mimeo*, University of Pennsylvania.

Altman, E. I., G. Marco and F. Varetto, 1994. Corporate distress diagnosis: comparisons using linear discriminant analysis and neural networks (The Italian Experience). *Journal of Banking and Finance*, 505-529.

Barba Navaretti, G., G. Calzolari, F. A. Pozzolo and M. Levi, 2010. Multinational banking in Europe: financial stability and regulatory implications. Lessons from the crisis. *Economic Policy*, 25, 703–753.

Bofondi, M., L. Carpinelli and E. Sette, 2013. Credit supply during a sovereign debt crisis. Bank of Italy, Temi di Discussione, No. 909.

Borio, C., R. McCauley and P. McGuire, 2011. Global credit and domestic credit booms. BIS Quarterly Review.

Caivano, M., L. Rodano and S. Siviero, 2009. La trasmissione della crisi finanziaria globale all'economia italiana. Un'indagine controfattuale, 2008-2010. Bank of Italy, Occasional Papers, No. 64.

Cetorelli, N. and L. S. Goldberg, 2011. Global banks and international shock transmission: evidence from the crisis. *IMF Economic Review*, 59, 41-76.

Cetorelli, N. and L. S. Goldberg, 2012. Follow the money: quantifying domestic effects of foreign bank shocks in the Great Recession. Federal Reserve Bank of New York, Staff Report No. 545.

Claessens, S. and N. Van Horen, 2012. Foreign banks: trends, impact and financial stability. De Nederlandsche Bank Working Paper, No. 330.

De Haas, R. and I. Van Lelyveld, 2011. Multinational banks and the global financial crisis: weathering the perfect storm? De Nederlandsche Bank Working Paper, No. 322.

De Haas, R. and N. Van Horen, 2013. Running for the exit: international banks and crisis transmission. *Review of Financial Studies*, 26, 244-285.

Gambacorta, L. and D. Marques-Ibanez, 2011. The bank lending channel: lessons from the crisis. *Economic Policy*, 26:135-182.

Gan, J., 2007. The real effects of asset market bubbles: loan- and firm-level evidence of a lending channel. *Review of Financial Studies*, 20, 1941-1973.

Hauswald, R. and R. Marquez, 2006. Competition and strategic information acquisition in credit markets. *Review of Financial Studies*, 19, 967-1000.

Infante, L. and P. Rossi, 2009. The retail activity of foreign banks in Italy: effects on credit supply to households and firms. Bank of Italy Temi di Discussione, No. 714.

Khwaja, A. and A. Mian, 2008. Tracing the impact of bank liquidity shocks: Evidence from an emerging market. *The American Economic Review*, 30, 1413-1442.

Levine, R., 2005. Finance and growth: Theory and evidence. Handbook of economic growth. Elsevier Eds..

Mian, A., 2006. Distance constraints: the limits of foreign lending in poor economies. *Journal* of Finance, 61, 1465–1505.

Ongena, S., J. L. Peydró and N. Van Horen, 2013. Shocks abroad, pain at home? Bankfirm level evidence on financial contagion during the recent financial crisis. *Mimeo*, Bank of Spain.

Panetta, F., P. Angelini, U. Albertazzi, F. Columba, W. Cornacchia, A. Di Cesare, A. Pilati, C. Salleo and G. Santini, 2009. Financial sector pro-cyclicality: lessons from the crisis. Bank of Italy, Questioni di Economia e Finanza (Occasional Papers), No. 44.

Peek, J. and E. S. Rosengren, 1997. The international transmission of financial shocks: the case of Japan. *The American Economic Review*, 87, 495-505.

Popov, A. and G. F. Udell, 2012. Cross-border banking, credit access, and the financial crisis. *Journal of International Economics*, 87, 147-161.

Puri, M., J. Rocholl and S. Steffen, 2011. The impact of the U.S. financial crisis on global retail lending. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 100, 556–578.

Ruckes, M., 2004. Bank competition and lending standards. *Review of Financial Studies*, 16, 1073-1102.

Schnabl, P., 2012. Financial globalization and the transmission of credit supply shocks: evidence from an emerging market. *Journal of Finance*, 67, 897-932.

Stein, J. C., 2002. Information production and capital allocation: decentralized versus hierarchical firms. *Journal of Finance*, 57, 1891–1921.

RECENTLY PUBLISHED "TEMI" (*)

- N. 895 What is a prime bank? A Euribor OIS spread perspective, by Marco Taboga (January 2013).
- N. 896 Short-term GDP forecasting with a mixed frequency dynamic factor model with stochastic volatility, by Massimiliano Marcellino, Mario Porqueddu and Fabrizio Venditti (January 2013).
- N. 897 Collective action clauses: how do they weigh on sovereigns?, by Alfredo Bardozzetti and Davide Dottori (January 2013).
- N. 898 Firm size and judicial efficiency: evidence from the neighbour's Court, by Silvia Giacomelli and Carlo Menon (January 2013).
- N. 899 A spatial competitive analysis: the carbon leakage effect on the cement industry under the European Emissions Trading Scheme, by Elisabetta Allevi, Giorgia Oggioni, Rossana Riccardi and Marco Rocco (January 2013).
- N. 900 The causal effect of credit guarantees for SMEs: evidence from Italy, by Alessio D'Ignazio and Carlo Menon (February 2013).
- N. 901 Banking consolidation and bank-firm credit relationships: the role of geographical features and relationship characteristics, by Enrico Beretta and Silvia Del Prete (February 2013).
- N. 902 *Evaluating the efficacy of European regional funds for R&D*, by Davide Fantino and Giusy Cannone (February 2013).
- N. 903 Limited credit records and market outcomes, by Margherita Bottero and Giancarlo Spagnolo (February 2013).
- N. 904 Pure or wake-up-call contagion? Another look at the EMU sovereign debt crisis, by Raffaela Giordano, Marcello Pericoli and Pietro Tommasino (April 2013).
- N. 905 Family firms and the Great Recession: out of sight, out of mind?, by Leandro D'Aurizio and Livio Romano (April 2013).
- N. 906 Price discovery in the Italian sovereign bonds market: the role of order flow, by Alessandro Girardi and Claudio Impenna (April 2013).
- N. 907 Public-private wage differentials in euro area countries: evidence from quantile decomposition analysis, by Domenico Depalo and Raffaela Giordano (April 2013).
- N. 908 Asking income and consumption questions in the same survey: what are the risks?, by Giulia Cifaldi and Andrea Neri (April 2013).
- N. 909 Credit supply during a sovereign debt crisis, by Marcello Bofondi, Luisa Carpinelli and Enrico Sette (April 2013).
- N. 910 Geography, productivity and trade: does selection explain why some locations are more productive than others?, by Antonio Accetturo, Valter Di Giacinto, Giacinto Micucci and Marcello Pagnini (April 2013).
- N. 911 *Trust and preferences: evidence from survey data*, by Giuseppe Albanese, Guido de Blasio and Paolo Sestito (April 2013).
- N. 912 *Tempered stable Ornstein-Uhlenbeck processes: a practical view*, by Michele Leonardo Bianchi, Svetlozar T. Rachev and Frank J. Fabozzi (June 2013).
- N. 913 Forward-looking robust portfolio selection, by Sara Cecchetti and Laura Sigalotti (June 2013).
- N. 914 When the baby cries at night. Inelastic buyers in non-competitive markets, by Giacomo Calzolari, Andrea Ichino, Francesco Manaresi and Viki Nellas (June 2013).
- N. 915 Local development that money can't buy: Italy's Contratti di Programma, by Monica Andini and Guido de Blasio (June 2013).
- N. 916 The effect of organized crime on public funds, by Guglielmo Barone and Gaia Narciso (June 2013).

^(*) Requests for copies should be sent to:

Banca d'Italia – Servizio Studi di struttura economica e finanziaria – Divisione Biblioteca e Archivio storico – Via Nazionale, 91 – 00184 Rome – (fax 0039 06 47922059). They are available on the Internet www.bancaditalia.it.

- A. PRATI and M. SBRACIA, *Uncertainty and currency crises: evidence from survey data*, Journal of Monetary Economics, v, 57, 6, pp. 668-681, **TD No. 446 (July 2002).**
- L. MONTEFORTE and S. SIVIERO, *The Economic Consequences of Euro Area Modelling Shortcuts*, Applied Economics, v. 42, 19-21, pp. 2399-2415, **TD No. 458 (December 2002).**
- S. MAGRI, *Debt maturity choice of nonpublic Italian firms*, Journal of Money, Credit, and Banking, v.42, 2-3, pp. 443-463, **TD No. 574 (January 2006).**
- G. DE BLASIO and G. NUZZO, *Historical traditions of civicness and local economic development*, Journal of Regional Science, v. 50, 4, pp. 833-857, **TD No. 591 (May 2006).**
- E. IOSSA and G. PALUMBO, *Over-optimism and lender liability in the consumer credit market*, Oxford Economic Papers, v. 62, 2, pp. 374-394, **TD No. 598 (September 2006).**
- S. NERI and A. NOBILI, *The transmission of US monetary policy to the euro area*, International Finance, v. 13, 1, pp. 55-78, **TD No. 606 (December 2006).**
- F. ALTISSIMO, R. CRISTADORO, M. FORNI, M. LIPPI and G. VERONESE, *New Eurocoin: Tracking Economic Growth in Real Time*, Review of Economics and Statistics, v. 92, 4, pp. 1024-1034, **TD No. 631 (June 2007).**
- U. ALBERTAZZI and L. GAMBACORTA, *Bank profitability and taxation*, Journal of Banking and Finance, v. 34, 11, pp. 2801-2810, **TD No. 649** (November 2007).
- L. GAMBACORTA and C. ROSSI, *Modelling bank lending in the euro area: a nonlinear approach*, Applied Financial Economics, v. 20, 14, pp. 1099-1112 ,**TD No. 650** (November 2007).
- M. IACOVIELLO and S. NERI, *Housing market spillovers: evidence from an estimated DSGE model,* American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics, v. 2, 2, pp. 125-164, **TD No. 659 (January 2008).**
- F. BALASSONE, F. MAURA and S. ZOTTERI, *Cyclical asymmetry in fiscal variables in the EU*, Empirica, **TD** No. 671, v. 37, 4, pp. 381-402 (June 2008).
- F. D'AMURI, GIANMARCO I.P. OTTAVIANO and G. PERI, *The labor market impact of immigration on the western german labor market in the 1990s*, European Economic Review, v. 54, 4, pp. 550-570, **TD No. 687 (August 2008).**
- A. ACCETTURO, Agglomeration and growth: the effects of commuting costs, Papers in Regional Science, v. 89, 1, pp. 173-190, **TD No. 688 (September 2008).**
- S. NOBILI and G. PALAZZO, *Explaining and forecasting bond risk premiums*, Financial Analysts Journal, v. 66, 4, pp. 67-82, **TD No. 689 (September 2008).**
- A. B. ATKINSON and A. BRANDOLINI, *On analysing the world distribution of income*, World Bank Economic Review, v. 24, 1, pp. 1-37, **TD No. 701 (January 2009).**
- R. CAPPARIELLO and R. ZIZZA, *Dropping the Books and Working Off the Books*, Labour, v. 24, 2, pp. 139-162, **TD No. 702 (January 2009).**
- C. NICOLETTI and C. RONDINELLI, *The (mis)specification of discrete duration models with unobserved heterogeneity: a Monte Carlo study*, Journal of Econometrics, v. 159, 1, pp. 1-13, **TD No. 705** (March 2009).
- L. FORNI, A. GERALI and M. PISANI, *Macroeconomic effects of greater competition in the service sector: the case of Italy*, Macroeconomic Dynamics, v. 14, 5, pp. 677-708, **TD No. 706** (March 2009).
- V. DI GIACINTO, G. MICUCCI and P. MONTANARO, Dynamic macroeconomic effects of public capital: evidence from regional Italian data, Giornale degli economisti e annali di economia, v. 69, 1, pp. 29-66, TD No. 733 (November 2009).
- F. COLUMBA, L. GAMBACORTA and P. E. MISTRULLI, *Mutual Guarantee institutions and small business finance*, Journal of Financial Stability, v. 6, 1, pp. 45-54, **TD No. 735** (November 2009).
- A. GERALI, S. NERI, L. SESSA and F. M. SIGNORETTI, *Credit and banking in a DSGE model of the Euro Area,* Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 42, 6, pp. 107-141, **TD No. 740** (January 2010).
- M. AFFINITO and E. TAGLIAFERRI, *Why do (or did?) banks securitize their loans? Evidence from Italy*, Journal of Financial Stability, v. 6, 4, pp. 189-202, **TD No. 741 (January 2010).**
- S. FEDERICO, Outsourcing versus integration at home or abroad and firm heterogeneity, Empirica, v. 37, 1, pp. 47-63, **TD No. 742 (February 2010).**
- V. DI GIACINTO, On vector autoregressive modeling in space and time, Journal of Geographical Systems, v. 12, 2, pp. 125-154, TD No. 746 (February 2010).

- L. FORNI, A. GERALI and M. PISANI, *The macroeconomics of fiscal consolidations in euro area countries,* Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control, v. 34, 9, pp. 1791-1812, **TD No. 747** (March 2010).
- S. MOCETTI and C. PORELLO, *How does immigration affect native internal mobility? new evidence from Italy*, Regional Science and Urban Economics, v. 40, 6, pp. 427-439, **TD No. 748 (March 2010)**.
- A. DI CESARE and G. GUAZZAROTTI, An analysis of the determinants of credit default swap spread changes before and during the subprime financial turmoil, Journal of Current Issues in Finance, Business and Economics, v. 3, 4, pp., **TD No. 749** (March 2010).
- P. CIPOLLONE, P. MONTANARO and P. SESTITO, Value-added measures in Italian high schools: problems and findings, Giornale degli economisti e annali di economia, v. 69, 2, pp. 81-114, TD No. 754 (March 2010).
- A. BRANDOLINI, S. MAGRI and T. M SMEEDING, *Asset-based measurement of poverty*, Journal of Policy Analysis and Management, v. 29, 2, pp. 267-284, **TD No. 755** (March 2010).
- G. CAPPELLETTI, A Note on rationalizability and restrictions on beliefs, The B.E. Journal of Theoretical Economics, v. 10, 1, pp. 1-11, **TD No. 757 (April 2010).**
- S. DI ADDARIO and D. VURI, Entrepreneurship and market size. the case of young college graduates in *Italy*, Labour Economics, v. 17, 5, pp. 848-858, **TD No. 775 (September 2010).**
- A. CALZA and A. ZAGHINI, *Sectoral money demand and the great disinflation in the US*, Journal of Money, Credit, and Banking, v. 42, 8, pp. 1663-1678, **TD No. 785 (January 2011).**

2011

- S. DI ADDARIO, *Job search in thick markets*, Journal of Urban Economics, v. 69, 3, pp. 303-318, **TD No. 605 (December 2006).**
- F. SCHIVARDI and E. VIVIANO, *Entry barriers in retail trade*, Economic Journal, v. 121, 551, pp. 145-170, **TD** No. 616 (February 2007).
- G. FERRERO, A. NOBILI and P. PASSIGLIA, Assessing excess liquidity in the Euro Area: the role of sectoral distribution of money, Applied Economics, v. 43, 23, pp. 3213-3230, **TD No. 627** (April 2007).
- P. E. MISTRULLI, Assessing financial contagion in the interbank market: maximum entropy versus observed interbank lending patterns, Journal of Banking & Finance, v. 35, 5, pp. 1114-1127, TD No. 641 (September 2007).
- E. CIAPANNA, Directed matching with endogenous markov probability: clients or competitors?, The RAND Journal of Economics, v. 42, 1, pp. 92-120, **TD No. 665 (April 2008).**
- M. BUGAMELLI and F. PATERNÒ, *Output growth volatility and remittances*, Economica, v. 78, 311, pp. 480-500, **TD No. 673 (June 2008).**
- V. DI GIACINTO e M. PAGNINI, Local and global agglomeration patterns: two econometrics-based indicators, Regional Science and Urban Economics, v. 41, 3, pp. 266-280, **TD No. 674 (June 2008)**.
- G. BARONE and F. CINGANO, Service regulation and growth: evidence from OECD countries, Economic Journal, v. 121, 555, pp. 931-957, TD No. 675 (June 2008).
- R. GIORDANO and P. TOMMASINO, *What determines debt intolerance? The role of political and monetary institutions*, European Journal of Political Economy, v. 27, 3, pp. 471-484, **TD No. 700 (January 2009).**
- P. ANGELINI, A. NOBILI e C. PICILLO, *The interbank market after August 2007: What has changed, and why?*, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 43, 5, pp. 923-958, **TD No. 731 (October 2009).**
- G. BARONE and S. MOCETTI, *Tax morale and public spending inefficiency*, International Tax and Public Finance, v. 18, 6, pp. 724-49, **TD No. 732 (November 2009).**
- L. FORNI, A. GERALI and M. PISANI, *The Macroeconomics of Fiscal Consolidation in a Monetary Union:* the Case of Italy, in Luigi Paganetto (ed.), Recovery after the crisis. Perspectives and policies, VDM Verlag Dr. Muller, **TD No. 747 (March 2010).**
- A. DI CESARE and G. GUAZZAROTTI, An analysis of the determinants of credit default swap changes before and during the subprime financial turmoil, in Barbara L. Campos and Janet P. Wilkins (eds.), The Financial Crisis: Issues in Business, Finance and Global Economics, New York, Nova Science Publishers, Inc., **TD No. 749 (March 2010).**
- A. LEVY and A. ZAGHINI, *The pricing of government guaranteed bank bonds*, Banks and Bank Systems, v. 6, 3, pp. 16-24, **TD No. 753 (March 2010).**
- G. BARONE, R. FELICI and M. PAGNINI, *Switching costs in local credit markets,* International Journal of Industrial Organization, v. 29, 6, pp. 694-704, **TD No. 760 (June 2010).**

- G. BARBIERI, C. ROSSETTI e P. SESTITO, The determinants of teacher mobility: evidence using Italian teachers' transfer applications, Economics of Education Review, v. 30, 6, pp. 1430-1444, TD No. 761 (marzo 2010).
- G. GRANDE and I. VISCO, A public guarantee of a minimum return to defined contribution pension scheme members, The Journal of Risk, v. 13, 3, pp. 3-43, **TD No. 762 (June 2010).**
- P. DEL GIOVANE, G. ERAMO and A. NOBILI, *Disentangling demand and supply in credit developments: a survey-based analysis for Italy*, Journal of Banking and Finance, v. 35, 10, pp. 2719-2732, **TD No.** 764 (June 2010).
- G. BARONE and S. MOCETTI, With a little help from abroad: the effect of low-skilled immigration on the female labour supply, Labour Economics, v. 18, 5, pp. 664-675, **TD No. 766 (July 2010).**
- S. FEDERICO and A. FELETTIGH, *Measuring the price elasticity of import demand in the destination markets of italian exports*, Economia e Politica Industriale, v. 38, 1, pp. 127-162, **TD No. 776 (October 2010).**
- S. MAGRI and R. PICO, *The rise of risk-based pricing of mortgage interest rates in Italy*, Journal of Banking and Finance, v. 35, 5, pp. 1277-1290, **TD No. 778 (October 2010).**
- M. TABOGA, Under/over-valuation of the stock market and cyclically adjusted earnings, International Finance, v. 14, 1, pp. 135-164, **TD No. 780 (December 2010).**
- S. NERI, *Housing, consumption and monetary policy: how different are the U.S. and the Euro area?*, Journal of Banking and Finance, v.35, 11, pp. 3019-3041, **TD No. 807** (April 2011).
- V. CUCINIELLO, *The welfare effect of foreign monetary conservatism with non-atomistic wage setters*, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 43, 8, pp. 1719-1734, **TD No. 810 (June 2011).**
- A. CALZA and A. ZAGHINI, welfare costs of inflation and the circulation of US currency abroad, The B.E. Journal of Macroeconomics, v. 11, 1, Art. 12, **TD No. 812 (June 2011).**
- I. FAIELLA, *La spesa energetica delle famiglie italiane*, Energia, v. 32, 4, pp. 40-46, **TD No. 822 (September 2011).**
- R. DE BONIS and A. SILVESTRINI, *The effects of financial and real wealth on consumption: new evidence from* OECD countries, Applied Financial Economics, v. 21, 5, pp. 409–425, **TD No. 837 (November 2011).**
- F. CAPRIOLI, P. RIZZA and P. TOMMASINO, *Optimal fiscal policy when agents fear government default*, Revue Economique, v. 62, 6, pp. 1031-1043, **TD No. 859** (March 2012).

2012

- F. CINGANO and A. ROSOLIA, *People I know: job search and social networks*, Journal of Labor Economics, v. 30, 2, pp. 291-332, **TD No. 600 (September 2006).**
- G. GOBBI and R. ZIZZA, Does the underground economy hold back financial deepening? Evidence from the italian credit market, Economia Marche, Review of Regional Studies, v. 31, 1, pp. 1-29, TD No. 646 (November 2006).
- S. MOCETTI, *Educational choices and the selection process before and after compulsory school*, Education Economics, v. 20, 2, pp. 189-209, **TD No. 691 (September 2008).**
- M. PERICOLI and M. TABOGA, *Bond risk premia, macroeconomic fundamentals and the exchange rate*, International Review of Economics and Finance, v. 22, 1, pp. 42-65, **TD No. 699 (January 2009).**
- F. LIPPI and A. NOBILI, *Oil and the macroeconomy: a quantitative structural analysis*, Journal of European Economic Association, v. 10, 5, pp. 1059-1083, **TD No. 704 (March 2009).**
- G. ASCARI and T. ROPELE, *Disinflation in a DSGE perspective: sacrifice ratio or welfare gain ratio?*, Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control, v. 36, 2, pp. 169-182, **TD No. 736 (January 2010).**
- S. FEDERICO, *Headquarter intensity and the choice between outsourcing versus integration at home or abroad*, Industrial and Corporate Chang, v. 21, 6, pp. 1337-1358, **TD No. 742 (February 2010).**
- I. BUONO and G. LALANNE, *The effect of the Uruguay Round on the intensive and extensive margins of trade*, Journal of International Economics, v. 86, 2, pp. 269-283, **TD No. 743 (February 2010).**
- S. GOMES, P. JACQUINOT and M. PISANI, The EAGLE. A model for policy analysis of macroeconomic interdependence in the euro area, Economic Modelling, v. 29, 5, pp. 1686-1714, TD No. 770 (July 2010).
- A. ACCETTURO and G. DE BLASIO, Policies for local development: an evaluation of Italy's "Patti Territoriali", Regional Science and Urban Economics, v. 42, 1-2, pp. 15-26, TD No. 789 (January 2006).
- F. BUSETTI and S. DI SANZO, *Bootstrap LR tests of stationarity, common trends and cointegration,* Journal of Statistical Computation and Simulation, v. 82, 9, pp. 1343-1355, **TD No. 799 (March 2006).**

- S. NERI and T. ROPELE, *Imperfect information, real-time data and monetary policy in the Euro area,* The Economic Journal, v. 122, 561, pp. 651-674, **TD No. 802 (March 2011).**
- G. CAPPELLETTI, G. GUAZZAROTTI and P. TOMMASINO, *What determines annuity demand at retirement?*, The Geneva Papers on Risk and Insurance – Issues and Practice, pp. 1-26, **TD No. 805 (April 2011).**
- A. ANZUINI and F. FORNARI, *Macroeconomic determinants of carry trade activity*, Review of International Economics, v. 20, 3, pp. 468-488, **TD No. 817 (September 2011).**
- M. AFFINITO, *Do interbank customer relationships exist? And how did they function in the crisis? Learning from Italy*, Journal of Banking and Finance, v. 36, 12, pp. 3163-3184, **TD No. 826 (October 2011).**
- R. CRISTADORO and D. MARCONI, *Household savings in China*, Journal of Chinese Economic and Business Studies, v. 10, 3, pp. 275-299, **TD No. 838 (November 2011).**
- P. GUERRIERI and F. VERGARA CAFFARELLI, Trade Openness and International Fragmentation of Production in the European Union: The New Divide?, Review of International Economics, v. 20, 3, pp. 535-551, TD No. 855 (February 2012).
- V. DI GIACINTO, G. MICUCCI and P. MONTANARO, Network effects of public transposrt infrastructure: evidence on Italian regions, Papers in Regional Science, v. 91, 3, pp. 515-541, TD No. 869 (July 2012).
- A. FILIPPIN and M. PACCAGNELLA, *Family background, self-confidence and economic outcomes,* Economics of Education Review, v. 31, 5, pp. 824-834, **TD No. 875 (July 2012).**

2013

- F. CINGANO and P. PINOTTI, *Politicians at work. The private returns and social costs of political connections*, Journal of the European Economic Association, v. 11, 2, pp. 433-465, **TD No. 709 (May 2009).**
- F. BUSETTI and J. MARCUCCI, *Comparing forecast accuracy: a Monte Carlo investigation*, International Journal of Forecasting, v. 29, 1, pp. 13-27, **TD No. 723 (September 2009).**
- A. FINICELLI, P. PAGANO and M. SBRACIA, *Ricardian Selection*, Journal of International Economics, v. 89, 1, pp. 96-109, **TD No. 728 (October 2009).**
- L. MONTEFORTE and G. MORETTI, *Real-time forecasts of inflation: the role of financial variables*, Journal of Forecasting, v. 32, 1, pp. 51-61, **TD No. 767 (July 2010).**
- E. GAIOTTI, Credit availablility and investment: lessons from the "Great Recession", European Economic Review, v. 59, pp. 212-227, TD No. 793 (February 2011).
- A. ACCETTURO e L. INFANTE, Skills or Culture? An analysis of the decision to work by immigrant women in Italy, IZA Journal of Migration, v. 2, 2, pp. 1-21, **TD No. 815 (July 2011).**
- G. BARONE and G. DE BLASIO, *Electoral rules and voter turnout*, International Review of Law and Economics, v. 36, 1, pp. 25-35, **TD No. 833 (November 2011).**

FORTHCOMING

- M. BUGAMELLI and A. ROSOLIA, *Produttività e concorrenza estera*, Rivista di politica economica, **TD No. 578 (February 2006).**
- M. BRATTI, D. CHECCHI and G. DE BLASIO, Does the expansion of higher education increase the equality of educational opportunities? Evidence from Italy, in R. Matoušek; D. Stavárek (eds.), Labour, TD No. 679 (June 2008).
- A. MERCATANTI, A likelihood-based analysis for relaxing the exclusion restriction in randomized experiments with imperfect compliance, Australian and New Zealand Journal of Statistics, TD No. 683 (August 2008).
- P. SESTITO and E. VIVIANO, *Reservation wages: explaining some puzzling regional patterns*, Labour, **TD No. 696 (December 2008).**
- P. PINOTTI, M. BIANCHI and P. BUONANNO, *Do immigrants cause crime?*, Journal of the European Economic Association, **TD No. 698 (December 2008).**
- Y. ALTUNBAS, L. GAMBACORTA and D. MARQUÉS-IBÁÑEZ, Bank risk and monetary policy, Journal of Financial Stability, TD No. 712 (May 2009).

- M. TABOGA, *The riskiness of corporate bonds*, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, **TD No. 730** (October 2009).
- F. D'AMURI, *Gli effetti della legge 133/2008 sulle assenze per malattia nel settore pubblico*, Rivista di Politica Economica, **TD No. 787 (January 2011).**
- E. COCOZZA and P. PISELLI, Testing for east-west contagion in the European banking sector during the financial crisis, in R. Matoušek; D. Stavárek (eds.), Financial Integration in the European Union, Taylor & Francis, TD No. 790 (February 2011).
- F. NUCCI and M. RIGGI, *Performance pay and changes in U.S. labor market dynamics*, Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control, **TD No. 800 (March 2011).**
- A. DE SOCIO, *Squeezing liquidity in a "lemons market" or asking liquidity "on tap"*, Journal of Banking and Finance, **TD No. 819 (September 2011).**
- O. BLANCHARD and M. RIGGI, Why are the 2000s so different from the 1970s? A structural interpretation of changes in the macroeconomic effects of oil prices, Journal of the European Economic Association, **TD No. 835 (November 2011).**
- E. GENNARI and G. MESSINA, *How sticky are local expenditures in Italy? Assessing the relevance of the flypaper effect through municipal data*, International Tax and Public Finance, **TD No. 844** (January 2012).
- S. FEDERICO, *Industry dynamics and competition from low-wage countries: evidence on Italy*, Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, **TD No. 879 (September 2012).**
- F. D'AMURI and G. PERI, *Immigration, jobs and employment protection: evidence from Europe before and during the Great Recession,* Journal of the European Economic Association, **TD No. 886** (October 2012).